Literature Review of the Factors Influencing Access to Mental Health Treatment Services Among Adults in Conflict-Affected Areas in the Eastern Mediterranean Region



Sari M. A. Taha

Master's Degree in International Health (MIH)

Royal Tropical Institute (KIT)

Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VU)

August 2022

Literature Review of the Factors Influencing Access to Mental Health Treatment Services Among Adults in Conflict-Affected Areas in the Eastern Mediterranean Region

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in International Health by Sari M. A. Taha

Declaration:

Where other people's work has been used (from either a printed or virtual source, or any other source), this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with academic requirements.

The thesis "Literature Review of the Factors Influencing Access to Mental Health Treatment Services Among Adults in Conflict-Affected Areas in the Eastern Mediterranean Region" is my own work.

Law

Signature:

Master of International Health (MIH)

Start date – 2 September 2021 KIT (Royal Tropical Institute)/Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Amsterdam, The Netherlands

September 2022

Organised by:

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Amsterdam, The Netherlands In cooperation with: Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Abstract

Introduction: The Eastern Mediterranean region (EMR) is home to several armed conflicts that exacerbate the economic, political and health-related indicators. The burden of mental disorders in these conflict-affected areas is huge while access to mental-health services is limited, resulting in a considerable treatment gap. This study aimed to review the grey and academic literature for the factors influencing access to mental health services among adults in conflict-affected areas of EMR.

Methodology: Google Search, PubMed, VU library and APA PsycInfo were used to search for literature published after 2000. The World Bank's list of Fragile and Conflict-affected Situations was used to include countries in conflict. Andersen's framework was modified to assess the results.

Results: 54 sources were included in this review. Several factors were found to influence access to mental-health services: beliefs and stigma towards mental health; lack of resources; mental-health integration into primary healthcare (PHC); community support; distance, transportation and travel time; and funding for mental health.

Discussion: As mental-health research is insufficient, collaboration between governments, international donors and universities is needed to prioritize mental-health research. The implementation of anti-stigma interventions is challenged by the lack of evidence, cultural insensitivity and disinterest in mental health. Post-conflict governments are recommended to incorporate anti-stigma advocacy into cultural platforms. Integration of mental health into PHC can mitigate resource unavailability and stigma. Context-tailored training should be provided for the most available nonspecialized healthcare workers.

Key words: Conflict, mental health, mental health system, access, stigma

Word count: 12,948

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

Lists of Tables and Figures V
Abbreviations
Definitions of the Terms UsedVII
IntroductionIX
Background1
Problem Statement and Justification5
Objectives7
Methods
Results
Studies Characteristics13
The Findings of the Studies15
Predisposing Characteristics15
Enabling Resources20
The Needs23
External Environmental23
Healthcare System24
Discussion
Conclusions
Recommendations
References

Lists of Tables and Figures

Figures:

Figure (1): Map of the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR)

Figure (2) Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy of conflict-affected areas in EMR in comparison to global and low- and middle-income countries rates

Figure (3) Poverty rate of conflict-affected areas in EMR.

Figure (4): Modified Andersen's framework

Figure (5): Total number of mental health professional per 100,000 population

Tables:

Table (1): The search tools and terms

Table (2): Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Table (3): Academic studies included

Table (4): Reports based on scientific methods published by international organizations and NGOs.

Table (5): Availability and year of implementation of mental health policies and legislation.

Table (6) Human resources in conflict-affected areas of EMR.

Abbreviations

EMRO: Eastern Mediterranean Region Office

WHO: World Health Organization

EMR: Eastern Mediterranean Region

LMICs: low- and middle-income countries

GDP: gross domestic product

GGHE: general government health expenditure

GGE: general government expenditure

UHC: universal health coverage

OOP: out-of-pocket expenditure

YLDs: years lived with disability

PTSD: post-traumatic stress disorder

SDGs: the sustainable development goals

DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

NGOs: non-governmental organizations

MeSH: Medical Subject Headings

PHC: Primary healthcare

HCWs: healthcare workers

GBV: gender-based violence

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease

CHWs: community health workers

OR: odds ratio

HICs: high-income countries

mhGAP: The WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme

CFI: Cultural Formulation Guide

Definitions of the Terms Used

- Access to healthcare: the overall chance of identifying health needs and the ability to seek, reach, obtain or use healthcare services with the final purpose of fulfilling the healthcare need. Levesque et al. proposed a theoretical framework that is underpinned by five dimensions of accessibility: "Approachability; Acceptability; Availability and accommodation; Affordability; Appropriateness"; and five user abilities: "Ability to perceive; Ability to seek; Ability to reach; Ability to pay; Ability to engage" (1).

- The adjusted-healthy life expectancy at birth: mean number of years one person is projected to live, estimated at birth, considering the years he or she might live in less than "full health" because of disease or injury (2).

- Gross domestic product (GDP): is the economic value of all the good and services produced within the borders of a country during a certain period of time (e.g. quarter of a year/ 1 year). It is the single most used economic measure (3).

- **National poverty line**: the percentage of population earning or living at less than the national poverty, which is estimated by household surveys by national authorities (4).

- General government health expenditure (GGHE) as percentage of general government expenditure (GGE): the percentage of domestic government expenditures on health out of general government expenditure from domestic public resources, and it is used to indicate the extent of government's prioritization of health (5).

- **Out-of-pocket expenditure**: the percentage that households in a particular country collectively spend on health from their own money (pocket) out of the total current health expenditure (6).

- **Mental disorders**: a combination of abnormal thoughts, perceptions, emotions, behaviour and relationships with others. Mental disorders include: depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia and other psychoses, dementia, and developmental disorders including autism (7).

- Years lived with disability (YLD): the number of incident cases in a specific period is multiplied by the average duration of the disease and a weight factor that reflects the severity of the disease on a scale from 0 (perfect health) to 1 (dead) (8).

- **Treatment gap:** the value difference between the total number of people with a medical condition in need of treatment and those who do not get treatment (9).

- **Gender-based violence**: any form of harm inflicted on an individual premised on gender (10).

- User fees: the charges a consumer pays as a part of the total cost of provided services (11).

- **Psychotropics:** drugs that influence psychological function (e.g. mood), including antidepressive agents, anxiolytics and anti-psychotic agents (12).

- **Deinstitutionalization of mental healthcare**: the process of shifting mental healthcare for sever mental disorders from psychiatric, institutional settings to community-based, outpatient settings (13).

- Integration of mental health services into primary healthcare: mental health services provision by healthcare workers in primary-care settings. This might include detecting, diagnosing and treating certain mental disorders and issues influencing physical and mental health and well-being (14).

- Mental Health Gap Action Program (mhGAP): clinical tool developed by the World Health Organization for purposes of training and capacity building of non-specialized Healthcare workers in low-resource settings in low- and middle-income countries, to scale up mental healthcare. It addresses mental, neurological and substance use disorders, including depression, psychosis and dementia (15).

Introduction

I, the author of this thesis, am Sari Taha. I was born and grew up in Nablus, Palestine. 11 years ago, I decided to study human medicine at An-Najah National University, not entirely aware of the exact path ahead. Upon graduation, I worked as a medical doctor at the United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near East (UNRWA) for almost three years. This is where I started to accumulate interest in public health, global health and mental health. Soon, I was accepted to study a master's degree in international health at the Royal Tropical Institute (KIT) in Amsterdam, for which I have written this thesis.

The Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 drew attention to the increased burden of mental disorders in our current time. The study showed that cases of mental disorders increased by 48.1% from 1990 to 2019. Around 14.6% of global Year lived with disability (YLDs) were caused by mental disorders in 2019 (16). This coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic, which had a negative influence on mental health globally (17,18). Mental health is even worse in conflicts, which mostly occur in low- and middle-income country where a huge treatment gap already exists. In conflict-affected areas, it is estimated that one in five people live with mental disorders as compared to one in 14 globally (19). Despite the high need for treatment, access to treatment services is limited. A household survey in Iraq revealed that only 10.8% of the respondents who have sign and/or symptoms of mood, anxiety, behavioral or substance-use disorders had actually sought care for their disorders (20).

My motivation for conducting a review in mental health comes from several inspirations. Humans yearn for happiness and satisfaction—or rather, the attainment of pleasure and the avoidance of pain in the utilitarian terms of Jeremy Bentham. The field of mental health is the answer to these aspirations. Undeniably, mental health affects physical health, day-to-day life and academic and professional productivity. I view mental health as an ease-to-disease spectrum in which nobody is sheltered from the staggering nature of mental health issues—It is everybody's concern.

Palestine has been in constant conflict for over a century, adding to an ancient history of wars and tragedies. My interest in mental health met with the context of conflict that I lived in, and it culminated with the urgency of mental ill-being of our time, all made me motivated to write this thesis.

Background

The Eastern Mediterranean Region Office (EMRO) of the World Health Organization (WHO) serves 21 member-states in addition to the Occupied Palestinian Territories (oPT).¹ Nearly 745 million people live in the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR), covering an area that extends from North Africa, to Middle East to Central Asia (21). See the map of EMR in figure (1).

Arabic is the spoken language in 17 areas, Somali in Somalia and Djibouti, Persian in Iran, and Dari and Pashto in Afghanistan, while Pakistanis speak six major languages (22). Islam is the dominant religion in the region, with a significant minority of Christians living mostly in Egypt and the Levant, in addition to many religious minorities. The majority of the population is younger than 25, whom are projected to exceed 217 million by 2050 (23). While 70-90% of the populations in most countries live in urban areas, the majority of the population in Afghanistan, Sudan, Egypt, Pakistan, Somalia and Yemen live in rural areas (24).

Although the region is home to diversified cultures that cannot be summarized in one description, key cultural commonalities exist. The Arab states, which comprise the bulk of the region, have a common historical and political context, and share similar literature, art and music (25–27). People in the EMR are generally conservative, and traditional institutions, such as family, friends and religion, continue to shape the lives of Arab youth (28). Moreover, the societies are patriarchal and largely influenced by gender roles, restricting women's control over and access to resources (29–31). However, there has been a recent improvement in gender equality in the region. Early marriage has declined, the legal status of women has been enhanced, and the educational gender gap has improved in most areas (29,32,33). As the rate of female labour participation is 26%, as compared to the global rate of 51%, the improvement in education in Arab states is not matched by a similar trend in female labor participation (34). Furthermore, literacy rates have dramatically increased across almost all countries in the region, but women still have slightly lower rates than men in most states (35).

¹ The Occupied Palestinian Territories (oPT) will be referred to as Palestine throughout this thesis.



The Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR)

Figure (1): Map of the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR)

Source: The Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2016.

During the past two decades, the region has been characterized by armed conflicts, political unrest and forced displacement. Twelve out of the 22 states had at least a degree of conflict at some point during the last 20 years. Consequently, more than half of the World's refugees have originated from the EMR. Conflict in Syria has caused the worst refugee crisis globally, and Yemen is home to the worst humanitarian crisis, with almost 80% of the population in need for humanitarian assistance (36).

Conflict-affected areas have poor economic, political and health-related indicators. The life expectancy at birth ranges from 56.4 in Somalia to 75.7 years in Libya (37). In these states, the healthy life expectancy at birth is below the global average of 63.7 years except for Syria and Libya (38). All countries have a gross domestic product (GDP) per capita rate lower than the low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) average of 5,530 US dollar (39). Likewise, Unemployment rates are higher than the LMICs average of 6.3%, ranging from 24.9% in Palestine to 10.6% in Syria in 2021 (40). Nearly 82.3%, 55% and 49% of the population live under the national poverty line in South Sudan, Afghanistan and Yemen, respectively (4). Figures (2) and (3) depict life expectancy and poverty rates in these areas.



Figure (2) Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy of conflict-affected areas in EMR in comparison to global and low- and middle-income countries rates. (Source: WHO The Global Health Observatory (37,38))





Conflicts have had an adverse impact on health in the region. Health can be affected directly by war-inflicted trauma and mental disorders, or indirectly through the change in political, economic and environmental conditions (the collapse of healthcare systems, poor access to resources, and geographical and financial restrictions), resulting in worsening morbidity and mortality from non-communicable diseases, infectious diseases and maternal complications. Women are particularly affected by war-induced gendered

effects, including increased sexual violence, unwanted pregnancy and poor sexual and reproductive health. By 2017, Somalia and Afghanistan were among the five countries with the worst maternal mortality rate in the world, with 829 and 638 per 100,000 live births, respectively (41). Yemen witnessed the worst cholera outbreak in recorded history, with almost 1.4 million cases by May, 2020 (42,43). In 2013, an outbreak of 22 cases of polio was announced in Syria, while the disease remains endemic in Afghanistan and Pakistan (44,45). Yemen and Somalia score alarmingly high rates of stunted children under 5, with almost 47% and 42%, respectively. Afghanistan and Sudan follow with a rate of 36.6% (24). Most of these countries, however, have excellent rates of access to improved drinking water and sanitation facilities (over 95%), except for Yemen, Afghanistan and Somalia (less than 70% for both) (24).

Healthcare systems in conflict-affected areas of EMR are characterized by weak governance, low spending on health and ineffective health information systems (46). The mean general government health expenditure (GGHE) as percentage of general government expenditure (GGE) ranges from 4.29% in Yemen to 9.88% in Sudan, fluctuating around the regional average of 7.9% (47). Of this, Iraq and Syria spend only 2% out of GGHE on mental health, while data is unavailable for other states (48,49). All states are trailing far behind the commitment of universal health coverage (UHC) to leave no one behind. For instance, Iraq, Afghanistan and Sudan have the highest out-of-pocket expenditure (OOP) regionally and globally, with 78.5%, 75.5% and 73.9%, respectively, pushing almost 10%, 6% and 2% of the population into poverty as a result of these expenses (24). Moreover, there is a profound lack of human resources for health. The vast majority of these states have a lower rate of physicians as compared to the regional and global rates of 11.1 and 16.3 per 10,000 population, respectively (50).

Problem Statement and Justification

Mental disorders are defined WHO as "a combination of abnormal thoughts, perceptions, emotions, behaviour and relationships with others" (7). Mental disorders contribute to a significant morbidity and mortality, causing personal distress and disability, and complicating other physical illnesses. Moreover, they have a substantial social and economic impact on the individual and society as they reduce productivity and worsen social function (15,51). As of 2019, almost 971 million people were affected with mental disorders globally, amounting to 19% of the total global years lived with disability (YLDs) (16). Worse still, the burden is underestimated by more than a third (52).

Despite this high burden, health systems worldwide fail to meet the needs of their people, especially in LMICs, where 85% of people with mental disorders reside (53,54). It is estimated that between 76% and 85% of people with severe mental disorder in LMICs do not seek medical help (53).

Armed conflicts, which most frequently take place in LMICs, cause even a higher burden of mental disorders. The sudden increase in health demands is combined with the compromised capability of healthcare systems to deliver services to respond to the need of their people, leaving the populations susceptible to increased morbidity and mortality (55). The transition of healthcare systems from acute response to recovery phase is challenged by lack of funding and planning and humanitarian-development incoordination (56,57). In such contexts, fragile healthcare systems that essentially had poor performance and little focus on mental health even prior to the eruption of conflict worsen people's access to care (58,59). Research from warfare settings has revealed that exposure to conflict-related traumatic events precipitates psychosocial distress, hopelessness, depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder among civilians (19,60,61). According to a systematic review conducted by WHO in 2017, one in five people residing in conflict-affected areas live with mental disorders in comparison to one in 14 people globally. When adjusted for comorbidities in conflict-affected populations, 10.8%, 15.3% and 21.7% have depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), respectively. These three disorders remain the major focus of mental health research in conflict-affected areas as only two studies have examined psychosis while none has looked into bipolar disorders (19).

Measures of quality of life in conflict-affected areas show a marked difference in comparison to global measures. For depression, there is an estimated 24.8 YLDs per 1000 persons in conflict affected area, almost five times the global rate. Similarly, 23.2 YLD per 1000 persons are estimated to result from anxiety disorders in conflict-affected populations as compared to 3.5 YLDs per 1000 persons globally in 2016 (19).

The need for mental health care in conflict-affected areas in EMR is high. The prevalence of PTSD comorbid with depression was found to be 18.7% and 8.1% in Palestine and

southern Darfur, respectively (62,63). The lifetime prevalence of major depressive disorders was reported to be 24.3% in the Palestinian West Bank (64). Charlson et al. used predictive models to estimate the prevalence of mental disorders and service coverage targets in Libya. The models predicted that the prevalence of severe depression and PTSD was 19.8% and 12.4%, respectively, and that the available resources fall far below the service coverage targets (65).

Of note, women are a particularly vulnerable group among conflict-affected populations. In Afghanistan, one study revealed significantly more depression, anxiety and PTSD among women with an odds ratio of 7.3, 12.8 and 5.8, respectively, as compared to men (66). In Palestine, 69% of the women in one study reported social, psychological and economic pressure. Moreover, the prevalence of depression and anxiety increases in older conflict-affected populations globally, but PTSD demonstrates an inverse trend (19). The trend is especially true in Palestine where 23-70% of the children and adolescents were estimated to have PTSD (67).

Against this background of a huge burden of mental disorders, access to healthcare services is limited, which causes a huge treatment gap. In Iraq, only 10.8% of those who have symptoms diagnostic of mood, anxiety, behavioral or substance-use disorders received treatment (20). In community-health centers in West Bank, only 108.6 new service users per 100,000 population were provided mental healthcare in 2019, which is far below global rates (24). For comparison, the incidence rate of mental disorders among Europeans was 950 cases per 100,000 population in 2019 (70).

Limited research has explored the factors that influence access to mental healthcare treatment services among adults in conflict-affected areas, that is, within the borders of areas which have been exposed to conflicts, excluding refugees outside their countries of origin as they are mostly affected by different sociocultural, financial and health system-related conditions. To date, no global, regional or comparative study has been carried out to review the available literature on factors influencing access to mental health services in general nor in relation to a specific mental disorder in conflict-affected settings.

Without reviewing the overall picture of what might influence access to mental healthcare, the treatment gap would remain unchanged. Worse yet, low access to mental healthcare may extend across time as intergenerational trauma (71). Identifying the facilitators and barriers that are most salient to conflict-settings is key to deliver accessible, universal and quality care, especially since the burden of mental disorders is high. Interventions and research tend to propose arbitrary and temporary solutions instead of more focused, cost-effective possibilities. Furthermore, improving access to mental healthcare in conflict areas is a step towards achieving the third target of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the WHO's Comprehensive Mental Health Action Plan 2013–2030, where mental health was directly addressed (72,73).

This study aims to explore scientific and grey literature for studies and reports investigating the factors that influence access to mental treatment services from the provider's and user's perspectives among adult populations in conflict-affected regions. Due to feasibility and validity concerns, this review is limited to EMR.

Objectives:

General objective: To explore the literature for potential factors influencing access to mental healthcare treatment services among adult population in conflict-affected areas in EMR from the provider's and user's perspectives.

Specific objectives:

1. To explore the demographic, sociocultural, financial and logistic factors influencing access to mental healthcare treatment services among adults in conflict-affected areas in EMR.

2. To explore the knowledge and attitude towards mental health and mental healthcare among adults in conflict-affected areas in EMR.

3. To explore healthcare system-related factors influencing access to mental healthcare treatment services in conflict-affected areas in EMR.

4. To provide conclusions to guide future research into investigating the potential factors influencing access to mental healthcare.

5. To provide recommendations for governmental and humanitarians stakeholders on improving access to mental health services in conflict-affected settings.

Methods

This review addresses mental healthcare in general, rather than focusing on a particular mental disorder, for multiple reasons. First, it is underpinned by the mental illness spectrum approach in which mental illness is viewed as spanning multiple diagnoses, alternative to the rigid medical lexicon of diagnostic manuals, such as Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), which often fail to assign atypical presentations to established criteria (74,75). Especially in primary-care settings, patients complain of distress and dysfunction that are inclusive of more than one disorder, or alternatively may fall short of satisfying one criterion (76). In the same vain, some studies have suggested that depression and anxiety in particular have overlapping symptomatology, and such codification might thus be inadequate (77). Particularly in the context of conflict, similar approaches have been proposed in local conflict research, such as the 'ease to disease' spectrum where social wellbeing is incorporated into assessment (78,79). That is not to say that the criteria-based approach is ineffective, but it is rather insufficient, especially in conflict-affected settings. Next, trends of access to mental health services seem to be universally low across populations with different mental complains despite the high needs, which suggests that common factors may affect access to mental healthcare as a whole. It is important to note that mental health research in conflict regions have had an almost exclusive interest in distress, depression, anxiety and trauma-induced illnesses (19).

Search Strategy

A search of the literature was performed and updated between March and June, 2022. As this paper is a literature review, academic databases and search engines were the main methods of data collection. Grey literature was explored by using Google search tool to search for reports published by national institutions, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and international agencies; and by searching the official websites of these organizations. The advanced search tools of PubMed, VU library, Google Scholar, and APA PsycInfo were mainly used to search for titles, keywords, abstract and MeSH terms of potential eligible studies. Search terms combined country-related terms, mental disorders terms and/or specific words (access/utilization). Additional articles were explored by snowballing from existing articles. Table (1) provides details on the search terms and tools that were used.

 Table (1): The search tools and terms

	Search tools and terms	Examples
Using abstract +/- Medical	Abstract:	- ab:(access) AND
Subject Headings (MeSH)		ab:(depression) AND
as search tools	1- country/areas	ab:(iraq)
	 2- disease (depression – PTSD – trauma – anxiety – neurosis – psychological – psychiatric) 3-Access phrase (Access – services – utilization) (Changing each entity at a time) MeSH heading: - disease 	 ab:(access) AND ab:(mental) AND ab:(palestine) ab:(utilization) AND ab:(depression) AND ab:(libya) ab:(access) AND hm:(depression) General (used at the begging): ab:(utilization) AND ab:(depression) OR ab:(DTSD) OD (mental)
		AND ab:(libya)
Using title +/- MeSH as	Title	ti:(Access) AND
search tools	- country/areas	ab:(depression) AND
	- disease	ab:(iraq)
	-Access phrase	
	(Changing each antity at a	- ti:(access) AND
	(Changing each entity at a	ab:(mental) AND
	(IIIIe)	ab.(palestille)
	MeSH heading:	- ti:(utilization) AND
	- disease	ab:(depression) AND
		ab:(libya)
		- ti:(access) AND hm:(PTSD)
		- ti:(services) AND hm:(anxiety)

Using "factor" as a saarah	Abstract.	ab:(stigma) AND
Using factor as a search	Abstract:	- au.(sugina) AND
term		ab:(depression) AND
	- Factor (expected	ab:(iraq)
	barriers/facilitators: stigma	
	– faith healer – beliefs –	- ab:(stigma) AND
	gender – age –	ab:(mental) AND ab:(Syria)
	employment)	OR ab:(Syrian)
	- country/areas	- ab:(stigma) AND
	- disease	hm:(depression)
	(Changing each entity at a	
	time)	
	Mesh heading:	
	- disease	

- This table is based on search using Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (VU) library

- This is not comprehensive of all tools and terms used, but serves to explain the search strategy.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

To identify countries affected by conflict, the review refers to the World Bank's list of Fragile and Conflict-affected Situations. This list classifies ongoing conflicts according to conflict intensity and government fragility as per the number of conflict deaths (80). Prior to 2020, one list included states with fragility without indicating whether these states were in armed conflict or not. The states that were listed before 2020 but not thereafter were Palestine, Lebanon and Djibouti. To solve this, states with more than 1 causality per 100,000 population and above 250 absolute number of causalities on 5 or more years since 2000 were included in this review to capture the conflicts with considerable scale in effect and duration (81). Based on this, Palestine was included while Lebanon and Djibouti were excluded. Lebanon and Djibouti were most likely listed due to non-conflict fragile situations as the major wars (the 2006 Lebanon War and the Djiboutian-Eritrean border conflict) lasted less than 5 weeks (82,83). Moreover, South Sudan is now an independent state that is part of the WHO's Regional Office for Africa, but it was geographically in the EMR during part of the period included in this review. In conclusion, nine areas were included: Afghanistan; Iraq; Syria; Palestine; Yemen; Libya; Sudan: South Sudan and Somalia.

Years and language filtering tools were applied to exclude articles which were published before 2000 and whose language is not English nor Arabic (the native language of the author). Literature with the following characteristics was excluded: those with a narrow focus on a non-common particular psychiatric disorder; exclusively exploring access to

primary prevention or follow-up services; or focusing on children and adolescents. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are summarized in table (2).

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria
Population: adult	Population: Children and adolescents
Conflict-classification: High – medium –	Conflict-classification:
low with fragility (As per the World	States on the Harmonized List of Fragile
Bank's list of Fragile and Conflict-	Situations (prior to 2020):
affected Situations);	1. below 1 causality per 100,000
*States on the Harmonized List of Fragile	population <i>or</i>
Situations (prior to 2020):	2. below 250 absolute number of
	causalities on 5 or more years since 2000.
1. Above 1 causality per 100,000	
population and	
2. Above 250 absolute number of	
causalities on 5 or more years since 2000.	
Language: English and Arabic	Languages other than English and Arabic
Type of services: treatment services	Type of services : Primary and tertiary
	prevention, and follow up services.
Location: Afghanistan; Iraq; Syria;	Date of publication: before 2000
Palestine; Yemen; Libya; Sudan (only	
South Sudan/Darfur); Somalia	
	Exclusive focus on one non-common
	psychiatric disorder (e.g. schizophrenia
	and post-partum depression)

 Table (2): Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The Conceptual Framework

Several frameworks have been proposed to categorize access to and utilization of healthcare services. Penchansky's and Thomas's six A's (1981), Andersen's Behavioral Model (1995) and Levesque's framework (2013) are widely used to conceptually analyze access to healthcare (1,84,85). This review utilized Andersen's framework (Andersen's behavioral model) of access to healthcare services. This framework has been modified four times since its creation, where evolving models acknowledge the merits and drawbacks of previous ones, and builds upon them. In 1995, the fourth phase of Andersen's framework was published. This phase ascribes access to healthcare to factors that pertain to both the provider and user, and recognize the roles of personal needs, health-system factors and environmental factors, which are relevant to access to mental-health services. Moreover, environmental factors, such as traumatic events and danger are related to conflict settings (85).

Andersen's framework was modified to suite mental healthcare, and to account for the degree of ambiguity in the framework. First, stigma is discussed under health beliefs, although it is affected by other social factors. Organization of healthcare services is

further subdivided into: integration of mental health into primary healthcare (PHC); competency, supervision and training of healthcare workers (HCWs); cultural competence of HCWs; and language barriers. Availability of health facilities is discussed under health-system resources rather than as enabling resources. Figure (4) depicts the modified framework in details.

Modified Andersen's Framework

Environment

Healthcare System

Health Policies and Governance I. Political will to implement policies II. Funding

> Health Resources I. Availability of Resources II. Distribution of Resources

Healthcare Organization

I. Integration of Mental Health Services into PHC II. Competency, supervision and training of health personnel III. Cultural Competence of HCWs IV. Language Barriers

External Environment

I. Danger and Security II. Traumatic events III. Place of residence

Population Characteristics

Predisposing Characteristics

Demographic Factors I. Age II. Gender

Social Structure

I. Ethnicity II. Education III. Employment

Heath Beliefs

I. Stigma II. Mental Health literacy and other beliefs on mental health and healthcare III. Knowledge About the Availability of Healthcare Services

Enabling Resources

I. Insurance II. Economic Status/affordability III. Distance, transportation and travel time IV. Service Environment: Waiting time and conditions V. Community Support

> **Needs** I. Pervceived needs II. Evaluated needs



Health behaviour - Health practices - Access to services

▼ Health Outcomes

J

Figure (4): Modified Andersen's framework. Designed by the author.

Results

Studies Characteristics

In this review, 54 sources were cited. Of these, 24 are academic studies (n=19) or reports by organizations based on scientific methods (n=5); 16 are forms of expert opinion reports, which are mostly country profiles, and contain referenced literature to build up arguments; six other miscellaneous reports with weak or unclear evidence bases; two magazine articles; three press releases by NGOs; two literature reviews; one news piece; one thesis; and one training curriculum. Quantitative methods were used in ten scientific studies/reports, while qualitative and mixed-methods were used in five and six studies/reports, respectively. Only one case-study design was reported. The majority of sources (70.4%) were published in the 2010's, while only four sources were published in the 2000's. The sample size of quantitative studies widely ranged from 52 to 4445 participants. With 11 sources, Iraq is the area with highest number of cited sources, followed by Palestine with eight sources. Table (3) and (4) contain details on the included scientific studies/reports.

First Author	Location	Study	Sample Size and	Year
		Design	characteristics	
Kovess-	Afghanistan	Quantitative	4445 users	2021
Masfety, V.				
Ventevogel, P.	Afghanistan	Case study	N/A	2012
Nguyen, A.	Iraq	Mixed	123 users; 40	2019
		methods	providers; 12	
			directors	
Sadik, S.	Iraq	Quantitative	500 users	2010
Ayazi, T.	South Sudan	Quantitative	1200 users	2013
De Graaff, A.	South Sudan	Mixed	18 in semi-structured	2015
		methods	interviews; 10 in	
			focused group	
			discussions; 475 in	
			Questionnaire	
Marie, M.	Palestine	Qualitative	15 providers (nurses)	2017
Afana, A.	Palestine	Quantitative	161 providers	2000
Younis, M.	Iraq	Quantitative	482 users	2019
Jefee-Bahloul	Syria	Quantitative	52 providers	2016
H.				
Jefee-Bahloul	Syria	Quantitative	354 users	2014
H.				
Ben-Zeev D.	Palestine	Quantitative	272 users	2017
El Hayek, S.	The Arab	Qualitative	N/A	2020
-	World (Syria –			
	Sudan – Libya)			

Table (3): Academic studies included

Sanhori, Z.	Sudan	Quantitative	1549 users	2019
Ali, S.	Sudan	Mixed	103 users (carers); 6	2016
		methods	providers	
			(psychiatrists)	
Osman, A.	Sudan	Mixed	81 providers	2020
		methods	(psychiatrists)	
Bashir, M.	Sudan	Quantitative	644 users (medical	2020
			students)	
Marie, M.	Palestine	Literature	N/A	2016
		review		
Marie, M.	Palestine	Literature	N/A	2020
		review		

(N/A: no information available/not applicable)

Table (4): Reports based on scientific methods published by international organizations and NGOs.

Author	Location	Study Design	Sample Size and	Year
			characteristics	
International	Yemen	Mixed	Desk review;	2019
Medical Corps		methods	interviews; focused	
			group discussion with	
			160 users, and 15	
			providers and key	
			informants	
WHO	Somalia	Mixed	N/A	2010
		methods		
Human Rights	Several	Qualitative	N/A	2020
Watch	locations			
MedAct	Iraq	Qualitative	Interviews with key	2012
(Sharma, S.)	_		informants; Desk	
			review; Literature	
			review	
International	South Sudan	Qualitative	Desk review;	2015
Medical Corps			interviews; focused	
-			group discussion with	
			key informants	

(N/A: no information available/not applicable).

The Findings of the Studies

Predisposing Characteristics

1. Demographic Factors

I. Age

In one study in Afghanistan, middle-age (35-49 years) and those 50 year or older had higher odds of utilizing mental health care services, but only "middle age" was consistently significant in univariate and multivariate analyses (86).

II. Gender

The consensus among users, providers and directors in a mixed-methods study conducted in PHC centers in Northern Iraq was that women are negatively influenced by decisionmaking to seek mental-health services (87). This is despite the improved autonomy of women in political spheres in general against a background of traditional conservatism in Northern Iraq (88). The same study reported a lack of matched gender as a barrier to access (87). On the other hand, a study in Afghanistan revealed that gender was not significantly associated with mental-health service utilization (86).

As part of a wider cultural revolution, women in the "Middle East", are becoming more empowered to seek psychiatric help, according to a report that attributed this to improved access to education and employment, and the impact of social media on changing youth culture in the region (89,90). However, an old report published in the 2000's by the WHO argued that men's attitudes had not adapted to this change (91). Physical abuse, for instance, is still underreported out of fear of shaming the family by the society at large, or exacerbating physical abuse in retaliation for the mere act of reporting (89). In Afghanistan, a community-based intervention in Mohmandara village reflects high exposure to gender-based violence (GBV), as most women living in the village participated in support groups. Because reporting violence was not a safe option, one solution to help women was income generation activities, based on the assumption the economic empowerment of women would mitigate GBV (92).

Gender values often affect help-seeking behaviour, forcing women into reporting somatic symptoms instead of GBV. The physical abuse translates into a wide array of mental complaints, such as depression (89). The high depression rate among women in United Arab Emirates, a country with similar cultural characteristics to other countries in the region, was significantly associated with social factors, such as the number of children (93). This is met with the absence of gender-sensitive provision of mental healthcare

services at clinical- and policy-level (89). This report, however, is not packed by strong evidence-based research, and are restricted to the geographically-vague "Middle East" concept and not the EMR.

Toxic masculinity, which delegitimizes feelings of weakness and fear for males, constitutes another barrier to accessing mental-health services. In Palestine, males consider seeking mental health services as a sign of weakness, as discussed by Marie et al. (94). In a survey conducted in Iraq, almost 60% of participants thought that personal weakness can be the cause of mental illness, upon which seeking mental healthcare is considered a proof of weakness (95).

2. Social Structure (ethnicity, education and employment)

In Afghanistan, Pashtun ethnicity was found to be associated with higher rate of access to mental health care services when compared to Tajik ethnicity (86). The same study in Afghanistan found that education had a significant association with service utilization in univariate analysis, but this association was nullified in multivariate analysis because higher level of education was associated with the Pashtun ethnicity (86). No study has yet explored the relation between employment/occupation and access to mental healthcare.

3. Health Beliefs

I. Stigma

Stigma is a socially-constructed label that constitute a set of beliefs and stereotypes assigned to a particular disorder. Public stigma can result from lack of knowledge, negative attitude (prejudice) and/or discriminatory behaviour (96). Implicitly, social norms and institutional policies give rise to structural stigma whereby people with mental conditions have unequal access to employment, healthcare and living conditions (97). Worse yet, repeated exposure to stigma causes self-stigma, in which people with mental illness harbor negative feelings towards themselves (98).

Stigma seems widespread in conflict-affected areas of EMR. Stigma is frequently cited as a barrier to accessing treatment in most academic articles and reports on access to mental healthcare, even before conflicts erupted. In Afghanistan, mental health is a "taboo" topic, pushing people to avoid seeking care (99). In Somalia, people dichotomize mental health status into sane and insane (100). In Iraq, stigma ranked first among the barriers to accessing mental-health services, as mentioned by 74 out of 140 distinct stakeholders in a mixed-method study. To make the questions culturally-specific, the interview guide was formulated using multiple frameworks, evaluated by experts, and tailored to different stakeholders (87). One exception is recent report that was built on interviews with health

workers in Iraq, which revealed that stigma had declined due to "awareness programs" (101).

Earlier in 2010 in Iraq, another study investigated the public perception of mental health and reported that 83% of the participants thought that people with mental illness are to blame for their own condition, and over a half said that they are afraid to talk or work with someone with a mental illness (95). In South Sudan, a similar study also demonstrated comparable results using a cross-sectional survey. Almost 42% and 46% of the participants said they were afraid to have a conversation or work with someone with mental illness, respectively. The study also utilized a social distance score, which is a tool to measure personal readiness to engage in relationships at different extents of intimacy. The results showed that low level of education was associated with higher social distance score, that is, more a stigmatizing attitude (102). In Sudan, only 8% of participants in one study had no stigmatizing attitudes towards people with mental illness. Age group (30-39), employment and education were significantly associated with less stigma, while income was significantly associated with more stigma. The study used robust statistics tests, such as McNemar's test, to confirm the results (103). Another study conducted among medical students in Sudan revealed that stigma is ranked first as a barrier to access mental-health services (63%). Likewise, only 36% of participants in another study in Sudan reported that they did not care about others when seeking care (104).

Stigma-by-association, whereby relatives of people with mental illness are stigmatized (105), was repeatedly cited as a barrier to mental healthcare. Another mixed-method study in South Sudan reported that relatives of patients with mental illness may face derogatory remarks and difficulties in getting married, which explain the family's objection to seeking care (106). Similarly, in Palestine, nurses working in community centers reported difficulties convincing patients' families to participate in mental health programs, fearing that they might face discrimination (107). In Libya, patients' families consult a psychiatrist as a last option after spiritual healers and general practitioners, because the last two options cause less stigma-by-association (108).

Using offensive wording to describe people with mental illness is also common. The previously-mentioned qualitative study in Iraq reported that "crazy" is frequently used to describe people with mental illness (87). In Yemen, words such as "not-normal," "not stable," and "crazy" are commonly used (109).

Furthermore, stigma that arises from or is directed towards HCWs is an additional barrier to the provision of quality care. In Palestine, many nurses refused to apply for jobs in mental healthcare in fear of being stigmatized (110,111). Additionally, nurses working in mental healthcare complained about receiving critical remarks from colleagues working in other departments (107).

Amid this background of ingrained stigma in the society, official institutions and media still perpetuate the societal stigma through systematic discrimination embedded in laws, and through abdicating the duty to dispel public misconceptions. Using stigmatizing terminology, such as "mad" and "crazy", is still entrenched in official laws and commonly used in legal suits in Syria. Moreover, because the collaboration between the film industry and scientific community is lacking, misrepresentation of psychiatric disorders in films further compounds the societal views thereof (112). This also holds true in Palestine where there is noticeable lack of awareness programs about mental health, including in media and films, as discussed by Marie et al. (113).

II. Mental Health Literacy and Other Beliefs on Mental Health and Healthcare

Aside from stigma, supranatural beliefs about mental health and healthcare constitute a barrier to access. In Yemen, South Sudan, Somalia and Libya, people still attribute mental health issues to possession by 'jin', which is the Arabic translation of "the Devil" commonly used in texts of Abrahamic religions. People with mental illness are often described as *"possessed by demon or jinn,"* or *"far from God."* Because people perceive the cause to be as such, they follow informal health-seeking behaviour, such as spiritual healers, traditional healers or witch doctors, who are typically considered the solution to "devilish possession" in place of formal medicine (100,102,106,109,112,114). The extent to which these beliefs is common across the region is unknown because most of these findings are based on expert-opinion reports.

Supranatural beliefs are reported in several studies across the region. In a cross-sectional community survey conducted in South Sudan, the majority of the participants attributed mental illness to possession by evil spirits, which was significantly associated with low level of education, living in rural areas and self-employment (102). Another mixedmethods study revealed similar beliefs, although some held contradicting views on informal treatment. One nurse, for example, thought that traditional healer should be consulted because the reason could be witchcraft, but she also stressed the importance of seeking formal care simultaneously. The same study reported that ideal attitude towards mental healthcare contradicted with real health-seeking behaviour. While only 14% of the participants (users and providers) thought that informal healthcare is more appropriate, a plenty of those respondents said that they actually sought informal care for mental-health issues. This study used triangulation of quantitative and qualitative methods to improve the quality of data (106). In Somalia, the cause of mental illness is frequently attributed to spiritual causes. Consequently, people seek care from spiritual or traditional healers, or turn to substance abuse (100,114,115). In Iraq, a recent study revealed that spiritual beliefs are common as 57% of patients sought care from faith healers, and 38.6% of them thought that the care was good or accepted. This might be even underestimated as the study did not reach out to participants who had chosen faith healers as an alternative (116). In Sudan, around 70% of participants in one study said they sought another kind of

treatment, mostly from religious healers, before seeking formal healthcare (104). This is described in a report as an "integral part of everyday life" (117).

Nevertheless, literature shows an alternative perspective on supranatural beliefs (devilish possession and divine punishment). In a survey conducted in Iraq to measure mental health literacy, primarily measuring knowledge about causes of mental illness, most ascribed mental illnesses to scientifically-based reasons such as life events, genetic factors and brain disease, while less than a third of participants thought that God's punishment can be a cause (95). In another qualitative study in Iraq, little reported traditional healers as a barrier to seeking care, yet many emphasized the role of old traditions in limiting access to mental healthcare (87). Amid the contradicting views and the common reliance on informal care, informants in the abovementioned South Sudanese study alluded to the opportunity that a shift away from traditional beliefs is taking place (106). Based on my own experience in Palestine, traditional beliefs are not commonly employed in justifying the cause of mental illness. On the whole, mental health literacy is improving, but supranatural beliefs seem to coexist.

Social attitude against mental health and healthcare may have been shaped by the inhuman conditions and human rights violations that are perpetuated in mental health facilities. In Yemen, shackling of people with mental illness takes place in the community and within facilities (118). In Libya, patients often receive electroconvulsive therapy without anesthesia, and facilities are insanitary (119).

Worst of all, when inpatient facilities are unavailable nation-wide, inhuman treatment of patients worsens. In South Sudan, people with mental illness were admitted to Juba prison in South Sudan (106,120,121). In Somalia, 90% of people with serious mental illness had been chained once at least, as estimated by the WHO, and most were exposed to malnutrition and poor hygienic conditions (100). Therefore, the WHO partnered with NGOs to inaugurate the Chain-Free Initiative, to reduce inhumane treatment of patients in their homes and communities, and encourage access to formal mental healthcare (122).

III. Knowledge About the Availability of Healthcare Services

Literature analyzed knowledge about the availability of mental health services in three ways. First, the public may be unaware of services despite their availability. In Iraq, 41 out of 140 participants in a qualitative study cited unawareness of services as a barrier. This, however, might have been under- or overestimated because the study had recruited only those who benefited from a PHC-based program, while people who had not had access may be unaware of the program to begin with (87). In another quantitative study in Iraq, almost 70% of the respondents thought that information about mental health services is unavailable in the community (95). In rural areas of South Sudan, people are

frequently unaware of the services provided in cities (106). In a Sudanese study, 46% of the participants did not know where to seek mental-health services (123).

Secondly, people may be aware of the services but perceive it to be of low quality. Only 14% of the participants in the Iraqi study thought that PHC centers provide quality care for mental health (87). In South Sudan, negative 'word of mouth' from people who had negative experience with formal healthcare often prompted others to opt for informal care instead (106). An article based on literature review and expert opinions in Syria suggested that distrust in the political regime might have led to distrust in the quality of formal healthcare (124).

Thirdly, People may have misconceptions about mental healthcare practice that have been shaped by the historical reality. Commonly, the public still perceive mental healthcare as hospital-based rather than community-based, and medication-based as opposed to social-based, which might affect perceptions towards mental healthcare in general. In a South Sudanese survey, only about 30% of the participants believed that mental healthcare can be implemented in combined hospital and community approach, and nearly 85% thought that medications are necessary to treat mental illnesses (102). In another study, only two respondents believed that mental healthcare can be adopted in PHC (106). According to unpublished research conducted among community healthcare workers and community members in Iraq, the public considers mental healthcare as medication-based (125).

Enabling Resources

I. Insurance

Understanding the influence of insurance on access to mental healthcare is handicapped by the challenge that different insurance schemes are available in different areas. Little information is available on how insurance coverage effectively influences access to mental healthcare after conflict, especially in countries that have historically provided near-universal health coverage. According to a law issued in 2010, mental health services in Libya are covered by governmental revenues, and not as part of the social health insurance (126). In effect, it is unknown whether this is applied or not, especially since the law was issued before the civil war. In Iraq, patients with mental disorders are exempt from user fees (127). However, the failure to progress towards UHC and the poor quality of care in the public sector in Iraq raised the out-of-pocket expenditure to 78% in 2016, reflecting a limited role of actual insurance coverage (128).

Some conflict-affected areas did not consider psychiatry in insurance coverage before the conflict started, but the conflict amounted to an opportunity to do so. In pre-conflict Syria, neither psychiatric consultation nor psychiatric medications were covered by the national insurance prior to the conflict. As the conflict drew attention to the high

psychological needs of the population, consultation and psychotropics became covered by insurance (112).

II. Economic Status/Affordability

The degree to which UHC is effectively applied determines the amount of OOP, which affects the decision to seek care. Only one study explored economic status effect on access to mental healthcare. Using income level as a proxy, the study revealed that income level is not significantly associated with seeking services in Afghanistan (86). In Sudan, 60% of carers in a qualitative study complained that they faced financial difficulties to access services. Psychiatrists in the same study agreed with the same complaint (104). As specialized services are not available in rural areas in Iraq, people have to pay direct treatment costs, and indirect costs such as transportation and accommodation where these services are available, leaving those who cannot afford it without access to such services (101).

III. Distance, Transportation and Travel Time to the Nearest Facility

Most often, wars decrease the number of facilities through damage to infrastructures and inaccessibility to electricity, and, therefore, leave the population with the encumbrance of travelling to farther facilities to seek care. In some conflict-affected areas, the number of facilities was insufficient even prior to the war (112). Worst of all, there are no available facilities offering mental healthcare in rural areas of South Sudan, and only one hospital offers specialized services to the entire population (121).

Physical accessibility to the facility is determined by the availability of a facility, travel time, transportation cost and means, geographical difficulty and war-afflicted dangers. These factors are largely influenced by the economy, infrastructure and healthcare system before and during the conflict.

In Yemen, around a third of the total population needs more than thirty minutes to reach the nearest PHC facility (129). In a qualitative Sudanese study, only 40% of participants said that they can reach the nearest psychiatric facility in less than an hour by car (104). More than half of the participants in a qualitative study in Iraq cited the distance to the nearest facility and the environmental difficulties to reach it as a barrier to receive mental healthcare in primary settings (87). The specialized services were often not available in rural areas and areas in conflict, pushing people to travel to central areas (101). The situation is even worse in South Sudan where means of transportation to the facility is mostly unavailable, forcing people to travel on foot, which becomes infeasible during rainy seasons (106). Conversely, one study in Afghanistan found no significant association between distance to the nearest facility and access to mental health services (86).

The rise of telemedicine, creates an opportunity to improve access to mental healthcare, especially in conflict-affected areas where physical and human resources are scarce, and the transportation is oftentimes dangerous. A survey was undertaken to assess the attitude of Syrian HCWs towards implementation of a mental telemedicine intervention based on audio/video recording. Half of the providers thought it would be beneficial despite financial, cultural and technical barriers (130). Studies on the user-side give a mixed picture, however. In one study, Syrian refugees did not show approval of telepsychiatry as only 45% of those who reported perceived-need for care accepted telepsychiatry (131). Another survey that was carried out in Palestine to assess adults' attitude towards mobile phone use in mental healthcare showed that 88.2% of the participants thought that it would be helpful for people with mental illness (132). A study conducted to investigate the use of telepsychiatry before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Arab World documented this use in three conflict-areas of EMR. During the COVID-19 pandemic, services were provided through messaging and phoneline calls in Libya, in addition to a hotline for psychological support, while they were limited to messaging in Sudan and Syria. This was challenged by unstable electricity, inaccessible internet and inadequate funding (133).

IV. Service Environment: Waiting Time and Facility Conditions

One study aimed to explore the factors that influence access to mental healthcare after implementation of an 8-12-week primary-care based program in Iraq. Although a considerable proportion of the respondents said that PHC centers are crowded with small spaces available, most of those respondents were HCWs, which reflects a provider-perspective. This is confirmed by the quantitative analysis in the same study which showed that "lack of private space" was reported particularly by providers. On the contrary, the majority of the clients described the facilities as large, quiet, clean, which indicates that the service environment may be identified as a facilitator rather than a barrier (87). A report indicated that central psychiatric hospitals and some PHC centers in Iraq, especially in rural areas, are in poor conditions (101). The conflicting views might have arisen from addressing different facilities. The first study was conducted in Northern Iraq, while the report was conducted in Baghdad. Moreover, negative views on facilities conditions were reported by the provider-side in both cases.

V. Community Support

Social support may have a positive impact on mental health outcomes. A study revealed that most Palestinian civilians prefer to talk to a close friend or family member than to seek individual counselling (134). Moreover, support may facilitate or hinder access to formal healthcare services, as demonstrated by a study conducted in Iraq in which the family and community were mentioned both as a barrier and facilitator. As a barrier, the family may directly prohibit the patient from seeking treatment, or indirectly demotivate the patients or refuse to help in household duties. As a facilitator, the family offers

emotional, financial and practical support (87). Similarly, a report from Libya describes family support as taking a pattern whereby it provides emotional support to the patient, but it comes at the cost of delaying access to formal healthcare due to fear of stigma (108).

Furthermore, community involvement can contribute to increased access to mental health services. In Afghanistan, HealthNet TPO, an NGO, designed an intervention to improve access to mental healthcare services in Nangarhar. The intervention trained community health workers (CHWs) to provide psychoeducation, and identify psychological disorders and refer people afterwards. It also created support groups for women and support counselling for individuals. As a result, consultations for mental disorders rose from 659 in 2002 to over 20,000 during the scale-up period (2005-2009). Nevertheless, the intervention is not limited to community-based activity, but it also promotes mental health integration into PHC which contributed more to the increase in service utilization (92).

The Needs

In Sudan, 58% of medical students, who participated in a quantitative study, said they did not perceive the need to seek mental-health services, and 60% preferred to deal with their distress by themselves. The study, however, did not use statistical test to verify these results (123).

External Environmental

I. Danger and security

One study in Afghanistan found that people with mental health needs living in areas with "high" and "very high" danger levels were less likely to access mental health services in comparison to people living in "low" or "medium" level of danger. This association was so strong that it made ethnicity an insignificant association in multi-regression analysis (86). In some governates in Iraq, patients travelling without hospital documents to prove the need for treatment are subject to risk (101).

Additionally, experience from research fieldwork elucidates that security considerations may factor in accessing services. Certain facilities in South Sudan were unreachable for researchers due to security (106). Another study from Iraq described how many clients could not participate due to security reasons (87).

II. Traumatic events

In Afghanistan, exposure to four traumatic events and above was significantly associated with 2.45 higher odds of utilizing mental-health services when compared to no exposure in one study (86)

III. Place of residence

A study in Afghanistan found no association between living in rural or urban region and access to mental healthcare. However, living in different provinces was found to be significant only for the West province which was negatively associated with mental health service utilization, as opposed to Central Kabul province (OR = 0.23) (86). In Iraq, people living in governates with conflict and rural areas have less available mental healthcare services at PHC centers (101).

Healthcare System

1. Health Policies and Governance

I. Weak governance and lack of political will to implement policies

Conflicts present a challenge to health policymaking as multiple agencies, approaches and health systems may coexist, and efforts to restore healthcare in post-conflict state pay less attention to the disrupted policymaking. As shown in table (5), mental health legislations have been enacted in five areas, but the extent to which these are applied is unknown. Four areas have not implemented mental health policy: Somalia, Yemen, Libya and South Sudan (135–137). The Somali fragile state barely provides any mental health service (138). In Somaliland region, a mental health policy was published in 2012, but it was not implemented thereafter (114). In Yemen, attention to mental health is minimal prior to and during the conflict. A mental-health strategy was adopted for the period 2011-2015, but it was not implemented (139).

According to a country-profile paper on Libya, political instability posed a challenge to developing a mental healthcare strategy, especially because research on mental healthcare is lacking (108). However, there is no evidence that the long-term political stability that preceded the conflict was accompanied by political will to improve mental healthcare. On the contrary, a post-graduate training program for psychiatry had not been available until it was proposed in 2013, two years after the start of the First Libyan Civil War (108,140).

Meanwhile, the case of Iraq highlights the importance of political will. In 2004, a mental health act was approved by the Iraqi parliament, but rapid turnover of governments, which essentially did not prioritize mental health, did not implement the act. Later, international funding and expertise increasingly devoted attention to mental health, which coincided with the appointment of a psychiatrist as health minister in 2007 (141). The government adopted a 5-year strategy for mental health in 2008, and started to integrate mental health services into PHC (141). Noticeably, there has been heavy reliance on

international support and expatriate psychiatrists (141–143). However, a recent report highlighted several institutional problems including shortage and incompetency of human resources, unequal distribution of PHC centers, and failure to move away from institutional, biomedical care (101).

	Policy or Plan	Legislation
Afghanistan	1997	1997
Iraq	2005	2005
Libya	no policy or plan (137)	1975 (108)
Palestine	2004	no legislation
Somalia	no policy or plan	no legislation
South Sudan	no policy or plan	no legislation (136)
Sudan	2008	1998
Syria	2007	1953
Yemen	no policy or plan (137)	Unknown

 Table (5): Availability and year of implementation of mental health policies and legislation

*Source: WHO. EMRO. Mental health systems in the Eastern Mediterranean Reginon (2010), unless otherwise indicated.

II. Lack of funding

In 2020, international funding to certain facilities in Yemen was suspended, leading to their closure, and, consequently, influencing access to mental healthcare (109). Likewise, aid in Somalia is vertical and donor-dependent, and it rarely addresses mental health (138). As mental healthcare is reliant on international funding in Afghanistan, its loss lead to shortage in medical supplies, absence of HCWs, and collapse of services delivery (99).

Additionally, lack of funding seems to influence access to mental healthcare in postconflict settings. In a qualitative study to explore barriers to mental health integration into PHC in Iraq, most providers and directors expressed their concerns that the potential lack of international and governmental support may lead to the dissolution of the program (87). This is part of the overall picture in which development of mental healthcare in Iraq has been largely reliant on aid, which suffered lack of harmonization between stakeholders (141). In a qualitative study in Sudan, almost all user-side participants agreed that the government does not allocate satisfactory funding for mental-health (104).

2. Health Resources

I. Lack of Resources

Conflict-affected areas suffer from a lack of updated official data on the available human resources, while non-governmental reports are either lacking, outdated or provide

inconsistent figures. In Yemen, for example, reports from three sources give three different, yet close, figures on the number of psychiatrists, ranging between 36 and 59 psychiatrists for a 30.8 million population (139,144,145).

According to a report by WHO, the rates of mental-health professionals (Figure 5) range around the LMICs average, but only five conflict-affected areas were reported, which might mask the overall rate in these areas (137,146). On the whole, the rate of psychiatrists varies between conflict-affected areas in EMR, but it is consistently less than 1 psychiatrist per 100,000 population, far below the lowest European rate in Malta, with 3.1 psychiatrist per 100,000 population (147). For instance, the rate is around 0.2 psychiatrist per 100,000 population in both Libya and Yemen (148,149). Worst of all, South Sudan has only two psychiatrists for a 11 million population in 2019, and Somalia has three psychiatrists for a 12 million population in 2010 (100,121).



Figure (5): Total number of mental health professional per 100,000 population Source: WHO. EMRO. Mental health atlas 2017: resources for mental health in the Eastern Mediterranean Region.

The same trend also applies to the rate of psychologists and psychiatric nurses. For instance, Iraq and Syria have the highest rate with 1.2 and 1.1 psychiatric nurse per 100,000 population, which is lower than the rates of most European countries (149).

Table (6) further illustrates the available data on human resources mental healthcare in conflict-affected areas in EMR.

	Psychiatrists	Nurses working	Psychologists	Social
	[year]	in mental health	[year]	workers
		[year]		[year]
Afghanistan	0.23 [2016]	0.09 [2016]	0.30 [2016]	N/A
Iraq	0.34 [2017]	1.22 [2017]	0.11 [2017]	0.08 [2017]
Libya	0.20 [2007]	0.05 [2007] (148)	5.00 [2007]	1.5 [2007]
	(148)		(148)	(148)
Palestine	0.90 [2007]	0.58 [2015] (151)	1.00 [2007]	1.1 [2007]
	(148)		(148)	(148)
	West Bank : 0.60			
	[2013] (150)			
Somalia	0.02 [2010]	0.03 [2007] (148)	0.00 [2007]	0.2 [2007]
	(100)		(148)	(148)
South Sudan	0.02 [2016]	0.02 [2016]	0.26 [2016]	N/A
Sudan	0.08 [2019]	0.12 [2009] (152)	0.13 [2016](152)	0.55 [2015]
Syria	0.37 [2016]	1.07 [2016]	1.07 [2016]	0.80 [2016]
Yemen	0.20 [2016]	0.32 [2016]	0.41 [2016]	0.05 [2016]

* The rate is calculated per 100,000 population.

* The source is the WHO's Global Health Observatory unless otherwise indicated.

* When the source provides crude figure for year x, rates are calculated per total population as sourced from the World Bank for year x (153). The population of Palestinian West Bank is sourced from the Palestinian Central Bureau of Statistics (PCBS) as it is not provided separately by the World Bank (154).

* Numbers are rounded off to the nearest 0.01.

* N/A: Non-available

War can trigger migration of HCWs. Physicians for Human Rights documented the details of 56 HCWs who were killed in the first year of Syrian war (155). In Somalia, HCWs were displaced or killed during the conflict, adding to the existing shortage of human resources in mental healthcare (156).

To compensate for the lack of specialized HCWs, post-conflict Iraq took several efforts to encourage training in mental health and integrate mental health into PHC, which raised the number of doctors working in psychiatry from 98 in 2006 to 206 in 2010 (157,158). In Libya, a report of a training-need assessment revealed that the number of psychiatrists was low, and most doctors who had been serving in psychiatric hospitals were not qualified (140). Over a half of Sudanese psychiatrists, who participated in a mixed-methods study, thought that mental-health training of lay counsellors is a solution to the lack of human resources (159).

The number of inpatient facilities in conflict-affected areas in EMR is low, even in comparison to other conflict-affected areas elsewhere. For example, Georgia has 12 inpatient facilities for a population of 3.7 million, while Libya has only two psychiatric hospitals for almost double the population (119,160). Worse yet, South Sudan, Somalia and Syria are extreme cases as far as inpatient facilities are concerned. In Somalia, 5 low-quality psychiatric units are available in the self-declared independent Somaliland, and four others across the country (100,114). In South Sudan, there is no single psychiatric hospital, and only 12 beds are available at the psychiatric department in Juba hospital (161). In Syria, the two public psychiatric hospitals have been partially or totally damaged. Another previous addiction-center was turned to a psychiatric inpatient facility due to increased burden (162,163).

More contentiously, the significance of facility bed rate as an indicator of quality of care continues to generate a considerable debate as some argue that a reduction in this rate reflects a trend towards deinstitutionalization (164). Globally, the US witnessed a reduction in psychiatric beds from 31 to 25 per 100,000 population from 2001 to 2018, with a similar trend in Canada and the UK (165). All conflict-affected area in the EMR have lower rates compared to the EMR average of 6.41 beds per 100,000 population in 2016. Syria, where mental healthcare is mainly institutional, has the highest rate of beds in mental hospitals with 5.34 beds per 100,000 population, while Somalia, Afghanistan and South Sudan have very low rates of beds in general hospitals, with 0.5, 0.3 and 0.1 bed per 100,000 population, respectively (166).

In the meanwhile, the rate of outpatient facilities varies between different areas. Iraq has a high rate of 1.7 facility per 100,000 population, while Palestinian West Bank has a rate of 0.5 facility per 100,000 population (68,166). This is comparable to high-income countries (HICs), such as Greece (1.3) and Portugal (0.7), and upper-middle income countries, such as Argentina (1.7) and Romania (0.9). Nevertheless, comparison can be inaccurate as this rate might include private outpatient clinics, which does not reflect the extent of deinstitutionalization, especially since most conflict areas have barely adopted any measure to move away from institutionalized care, as is the case in Somalia and Yemen (166).

The availability of psychotropic medications seems to be limited. As much as 75% of the health facilities in Yemen reported shortage of essential psychotropics. This is according to an assessment report that triangulated data from mixed-methods using desk review, facility assessment, interviews and focus group discussions (167). Likewise, mental healthcare nurses in Palestine complained that essential medications are frequently unavailable, which mostly concurs with governmental economic hardship (107). Libya and Sudan consistently suffer shortage of medications (168,169). In Iraq, psychotropics are available but authorities impose strict regulations that limit their distribution (101).

II. Maldistribution of Resources

The distribution of human and physical resources seems to be poor regardless of the rate of these resources. Most of the Yemeni and Sudanese psychiatrists are concentrated in the capital cities (117,145). Out of 18 federal states in Sudan, 6 do not have fully-equipped psychiatric hospitals, and are run by non-specialists (117). In rural areas of Iraq, mental healthcare services are either unavailable or of poor quality, pushing people to travel for specialized services, seek private care or not seek care at all. Two of the four psychiatric hospitals are located in Baghdad (101). As psychiatric care has been historically provided by two psychiatric hospitals in Libya in urban areas, people living in rural areas might have had limited access to care (119,170). In South Sudan, rural areas are entirely deprived of mental-health services that scarcely exist in some urban locations (106).

3. Healthcare Organization

I. Integration of Mental Health Services into PHC

In EMR, mental health integration into PHC is either absent or sub-optimal. Nevertheless, conflict-induced scarcity of resources amounts to an opportunity to embark on, or improve, integration of mental care into PHC.

As primary mental-health services are in effect offered by psychiatrists working in PHC centers in Palestine, communication between non-specialized physicians and psychiatrists in the same PHC center is poor, and mental health integration into PHC is unsatisfactory (150).

In post-2003 Iraq, the consensus among policymakers was in favor of deinstitutionalization, which is moving from inpatient to community provision of care. Since 2008, the Iraqi government started to integrate mental healthcare in collaboration with International Medical Corps, but data measuring impact on access to mental healthcare is mixed. Additionally, NGOs- and academic-institution-led initiatives were inaugurated during the same periods (141,142). Doctors Without Borders (MSF) offered a training on psychological counselling at primary-level, which was shown to improve clinical outcomes of patients after three years of the program (171). Another initiative, by Johns Hopkins University and Heartland Alliance International, provided evidence-based training on cognitive behavioral therapy in PHC. As a result, the program was met with positive attitude from both clients and providers (87). In 2019, a fact-checking report indicated that although mental health services are increasingly becoming available at primary-care level in Iraq, the overall care remains institutional and biomedical, and PHC centers offering mental-health services are unequally distributed in practice. Moreover, effective organization of integration is lacking. For instance, due to the unclear national

guidelines on doctors' autonomy and fear of causing addiction, PHC physicians avoid prescribing certain medications (101).

While mental healthcare in pre-conflict Syria was entirely institutional, a shift towards mental health integration into PHC has started to take place by training non-specialists and inclusion of psychotropics in insurance coverage. Although the effect on access to mental healthcare has not yet been studied, a report revealed that the attitude of HCWs towards psychiatric medications, which were once considered as narcotics, has witnessed a positive shift (112). Likewise, efforts to integrate mental healthcare into PHC started one year after the eruption of the South Sudanese civil war in 2013 (161). A paper published in 2019 identified two barriers to full-scale integration: lack of funding in light of other national priorities, and poor quality of care (112).

In Yemen, although a report mentioned that the WHO announced in 2016 that it intends to train non-specialists on mental healthcare, no other data was found to elucidate this (145).

II. Competency, supervision and training of health personnel

In Palestine, nurses who work in mental healthcare essentially expressed their dissatisfaction about the quality of care they provide for several reasons, according to a qualitative study. First of all, there is a lack of supervision, guidance and training. Some nurses said they often worked as a clerk instead of actually providing mental healthcare services. Moreover, many were exposed to risks during their commuting to the workplace. This comes atop the insufficient number of human resources in Palestine. Against this background, little formal support is available to support their resilience (107,151). Similarly, psychiatrists in a Sudanese study reported that lack of motivation is the reason behind migration of HCWs (104).

In contrast, in a study conducted in Iraq, almost all providers and directors thought that the organizational climate is supportive, and most thought that leadership is competent. Still, some complained about the HCWs' attitude toward mental health. Another interview-based report revealed that HCWs lack satisfactory experience to provide mental health services, especially PHC physicians, nurses and social workers. From the perspective of the user, the same study in Iraq indicated that participants do not identify understanding by providers as a barrier. The vast majority of clients said that providers are caring, respectful and good listeners (87). On the other hand, people often refrained from seeking mental health services in South Sudan because they themselves or others had previous bad experience (106).

III. Cultural Competence of HCWs

One unreferenced report states that, amid the impact of conflict atrocities on personal agency, providers as a helpers may create power hierarchy and disempower patients

(172). Another report states that providers should address the needs of patients without using the western biomedical approach that relies on labels and jargons, and should benefit from the facilitating role of religion and fate in the Syrian culture (124). The HealthNet TPO intervention in Afghanistan showed how women expressed gender-based violence using local idiom, such as "feeling of sadness" instead of directly describing violence (92).

IV. Language Barriers

As services are sometime offered by foreign professionals in emergency, as is the case in Syria, language can emerge as a barrier, which stresses the need for competent and trained interpreters (131,172). This is more challenging in multi-linguistic countries such as South Sudan where most professionals speak Arabic or English while people use a multitude of local languages (106).

Discussion

This review aimed to explore the literature for demographic, sociocultural, financial, logistic and health system-related factors influencing access to mental health treatment services among adults in conflict-affected areas of EMR. It also aimed to explore the knowledge and attitude towards mental health and healthcare. Andersen's behavioral model was modified and used to assess data from grey and academic literature. The findings detail many barriers and few facilitators, showing similarities and differences between different areas, but three factors were found to be influential in most areas: beliefs and stigma towards mental health and healthcare; availability of physical and human resources; and the extent of mental health services integration into primary healthcare.

As only 24 scientific studies/reports from nine areas were included, this review exposed the paucity of scientific research addressing mental health in conflict-affected areas. Scientific literature is more available in certain countries (e.g. Iraq) than in others (e.g. Yemen and Libya). Particularly, there is a lack of quantitative and qualitative research explicitly exploring the factors influencing access to mental health services, as did only one included study from Afghanistan (86). Reports were often based on expert opinions, and some rely on non-triangulated interviews. Moreover, disaggregated data on these factors by age, gender, socioeconomic status or level of education is limited to a few studies. This is despite the expected influence of gender norms on the autonomy of women, especially that the social life in the region is dominated by these norms. There is also a dearth of studies addressing people living with a particular mental disorder, such as PTSD.

Without a satisfactory evidence-base on the scale of problems of mental health, neither the discovery nor the delivery of cost-effective interventions would be feasible. The research gap is rooted in the lack of interest in mental health at multiple levels, including policymaking, academia and clinical training, as stakeholders do not perceive mental health as aligned with national priorities, resulting in lack of funding, planning and leadership in mental health research. It is difficult to channel attention to mental-health research as long as the beliefs about the causes and treatment of mental illnesses, among the populations and HCWs alike, are frequently non-medical, as revealed by this review. Additionally, the scientific culture in conflict-affected areas of EMR tends to focus on the poor indicators of physical health, which masks the huge burden and treatment gap of mental disorders. This is further exacerbated by the misalignment between donors' interests and national priorities in LMICs, and the existing weakness of academic research in general in the EMR (173,174). Universities lack an enriching research culture, and rarely fulfil their mentorship obligations. In view of this, students, for example, participate in limited research, mostly for degree fulfilment rather than career development (175). Fortunately, the global attention to the burden and treatment gap of mental disorders, especially in LMICs, provides a rational for enhancing mental-health

research, but the challenge lies in translating the conclusions of global health research into national-level policymaking.

Stigma and negative beliefs around mental health are global barriers to accessing mentalhealth services, and, therefore it is unsurprising that the case holds true for conflict-areas in EMR. Still, stigma is even more relevant to conflict. Essentially, conflicts almost always occur in LMICs, where stigma is more pervasive as compared to HICs (176,177). This review provided considerable evidence that stigma predates the start of the conflict as widespread notions about mental illnesses are rooted in the sociocultural norms of societies. Stigma worsens, and is worse by, other negative beliefs such as superstitions and toxic masculinity, especially that religion and gender norms largely shape the social life in EMR long before conflicts. If anything, the co-occurrence of conflict and the global attention to mental health may have contributed to the overall picture in which stigma might have been slightly reduced compared to the past (178,179). Above all, stigmatizing attitudes and perceptions of mental health, especially among health workers, worsen the lack of professional and political will to improve policymaking in mental health. If negative beliefs about mental health are present among those who deliver the service, it would be hard to propose and implement changes in policies to improve mental healthcare. Finally, the fact that stigma is widespread globally, in peacetime and wartime akin, does not make it less worthy of attention because it limits access to care.

Research on anti-stigma interventions is intensive. Contact-based education, whereby an educational component is accompanied by direct or video-based contact with patients, has been repeatedly cited as the dominant approach to tackle stigma in mental health (180,181). For instance, a large anti-stigma campaign in Hong Kong was executed in 255 secondary schools, where video-based contact and education showed improved results when compared to education alone. However, many evaluation studies suffered methodological drawbacks; provided no evidence on long-term effect; and mostly did not examine behavioral changes (182). Although interventions against stigma have increased in HICs lately, few have been implemented in LMICs where mental health is not prioritized. There is also a vicious cycle in which stigma limits access to mental healthcare services, while limited access, on the other hand, makes it harder to channel anti-stigma campaigns into healthcare practice. Above all, implementation of effective anti-stigma interventions requires substantial investment in resources and manpower to bring about sustainable outcomes. These challenges make it harder to transfer anti-stigma interventions to LMICs. Even more so for conflict-affected areas where the lack of resources is extreme, especially during conflicts where governments lose control over their territories, and where mental healthcare is barely provided by emergency services. Efforts to reduce stigma in such settings can be rather incorporated into existing schemes of mental healthcare delivery. For instance, the knowledge, attitude and behaviour of HCWs regarding mental health is expected to improve the quality of and access to mental-health services.

Moreover, when anti-stigma campaigns were implemented in LMICs, they mostly lacked cultural sensitivity in modelling and measurement as they relied on Western paradigms, although the genesis and perpetuation of stigma are mostly entrenched in the social and cultural norms (183). This is part of the general tendency in global mental health to overlook the context-specific aspects of mental health in LMICs. An exception is a large contact-based, anti-stigma campaign in rural India that utilized cultural components, such as the Indian theatre. When evaluated, measurements also employed cultural-sensitive methods, and revealed significant improvement in attitude and behaviour (184). Similar culturally-sensitive approaches were also used in Lebanon and Malawi (185,186). This is particularly relevant in conflict-affected areas where trauma, violence and gender norms warrant further attention to the local and cultural context in the implementation of anti-stigma interventions.

In all conflict-affected areas, human and physical resources are either in severe shortage or unevenly distributed. While the lack of resources frequently preceded the start of the conflict, it worsened afterwards. This is because wars inflict damage upon physical resources and induce migration of skilled HCWs. Meanwhile, fragile governments fail to rectify resource unavailability and maldistribution because conflicts fundamentally limit state control and reduce the capability to provide services, and post-conflict state diverts attention away from mental health when other priorities take precedence.

Unavailability and maldistribution of resources are rooted in incompetent policymaking at macro-level where the lack of political will and governmental fragility lead to poor planning and insufficient funding for mental health. First of all, the efforts to compensate for the lack of resources are limited. Psychiatric training for doctors and clinical programs for nurses are lacking in many areas (e.g. Libya and Palestine), and integration of mental health into PHC is insufficient (e.g. Iraq). Even when the policies to solve the lack of resources are in place, they are often ineffectively implemented. For example, the reliance on psychiatrists instead of family physicians in PHC limits scalability of integration in Palestine. Furthermore, the perception and attitude towards mental health among health workers negatively influence the political will to tackle resources insufficiency. Planning for mental healthcare is also poor in other conflict-affected areas globally. In Ukraine and Georgia, two conflict-affected LMICs, resources are unequally distributed, even when adequately available. In these areas, the rates of inpatient facilities and psychiatrists are sufficient but the vast majority are concentrated in cities (187,188).

By exploring healthcare organization in conflict-affected areas, mental health integration into PHC was found to be a facilitator, while its lack was identified as a barrier to accessing services. Integration as a facilitator can be understood as a solution to the barriers of stigma and scarcity of human and physical resources. Training of nonspecialist HCWs is particularly relevant in conflict-affected settings for several reasons. First of all, integration helps ameliorate stigma in conflict-affected areas by providing more acceptable and hence more accessible services as the provision of both physical and mental health services occurs in the same place. It can also offer stigma-reduction education at community level. Secondly, provision of mental health services by nonspecialists is cost-effective as it compensates for the lack of specialized resources in conflict-settings and reduce spending on inpatient care. In addition, availability of services closer to people reduces the costs of institutional care, and maintains the support that is key to mental well-being.

In most cases, mental health integration into PHC has been proven to increase access to mental healthcare services using varied models and covering different geographical areas. The case of Neuquén Province in Argentina, a LMIC, provides an example of successful integration of mental health into PHC. The plan of integration was warranted by the lack of specialists, and premised on a collaborative model. PHC physicians were trained to detect and treat mental disorders, and to refer complex cases to more trained PHC physicians and psychiatrists. This led to improving access to services, treatment outcomes and patient satisfaction. Alternatively, in Belize, another LMIC, integration of mental health was based on a nation-wide two-phase training of psychiatric nurses rather than physicians. By 2002, nine years after the initiation of the training, case detection increased by 25% while hospital admission decreased (14). Likewise, independent nurse prescription of medications in mental-health settings, in which nurses can prescribe medications for certain mental disorders, has been proven safe and effective in the UK (189).

The transferability of different models of mental health integration into PHC is limited by the contextual settings of each conflict-affected area, such as conflict intensity, geographical barriers, and healthcare system structure and resources. The focus shifts from provision of humanitarian services by NGOs at the beginning of the conflict towards strengthening the fragile healthcare system to take over governance in post-conflict settings. Therefore, integration is extremely challenging during conflicts. Still, any degree of provision mental health services by non-specialists is expected to partially compensate for the lack of resources, decrease stigma and improve access to mental healthcare, especially that provision of mental health services by non-specialists is often the only viable option.

Moreover, international guides, mainly mhGAP, adopt a biomedical approach to mental health that tends to downplay local variations, including cultural variation in explanatory models, illness experience, stress idioms and resilience to stress (190–192). Conflicts cause additional contextual patterns of psychological problems that are not addressed in integration guides (193). Trauma and resilience, especially in protracted conflict, occur at communal level, which tend to be over-diagnosed as PTSD when relying on biomedical criteria. On the other hand, HCWs are affected by their cultural context, further limiting the applicability of integration (194,195). For instance, this review revealed that HCWs might have stigma towards mental health, and are influenced by the dominant

explanatory models. Above all, fragile states in conflict and post-conflict settings have weak healthcare systems and lack mental health policies, both constitute a barrier to sustainable and scalable integration of mental health into PHC. For example, weak healthcare systems are incapable of providing proper supervision and incentivization of HCWs to adapt to the new changes in service delivery (193,195). Moreover, conflicts erode trust in government and its healthcare system, as exemplified by the case of Syria, making people resistant to new changes in policies. However, sustainability and scalability are not the main concern during the emergency phase of conflict, where the state is not able to deliver health services, and thus any integration of mental health by service providers is expected to be beneficial.

The modified Andersen's framework was helpful in categorizing the findings. The framework labels findings as mainly personal and intrinsic (predisposing), or environmental and social (enabling), which is constructive to understand access to mental healthcare. Moreover, mental healthcare, as historically overlooked, requires a comprehensive analysis of healthcare system policies, resources and organization, which is adopted in Andersen's framework. Despite its usefulness, some factors could not be understood as mutually exclusive to one category. Stigma, for instance, is a health belief yet it is largely influenced by community support and social structure. Insurance and income cannot be discussed separately. Furthermore, the consideration of environment and health needs was among the reasons to choose the framework, yet little findings were found in the literature. Mental-health frameworks should separately categorize the factors related to mental-health: stigma, health beliefs, traumatic events, community support and healthcare organization.

This review has a few limitations. First of all, it is dominated by grey literature due to the dearth of academic studies on mental health in the region. Although some reports conducted by international organizations employed scientific methodology, others were subject to personal opinions, limiting the validity of such reports. Secondly, the bulk of literature offered provider-side perspectives, as is the case in most expert-opinion reports. Moreover, due to time constraints and the regional focus of the review, it was infeasible to contact governmental institutions to obtain specific data that might have been attainable if the review had a focus on one country.

On the other hand, this study is the first to review access to mental healthcare services in conflict-affected settings in EMR, where the treatment gap is huge. Furthermore, the review put naked numerical statistics into context to move away from number-driven conclusions. For instance, health resources were linked to the efficiency of distribution, and global comparisons were drawn where applicable.

Conclusions

This review aimed to explore the academic and grey literature for potential factors, as barriers and facilitators, influencing access to mental healthcare treatment services among adult population in conflict-affected areas of EMR from the provider's and user's perspectives. Using Andersen's Framework, the review explored a wide array of factors: demographic, sociocultural, and financial factors; factors related to knowledge and attitude towards mental health and healthcare; and health-system related factors. Because no study has reviewed the literature for access to mental healthcare treatment services, especially in EMR, this study provides the basis for conducting specific research and guiding policymaking in the region.

Although a variety of factors was limited to certain areas, many were reported more frequently. These are beliefs and stigma towards mental health and healthcare; availability of physical and human resources; and the organization of service delivery, namely the extent of mental-health integration into PHC. Other factors were often reported, albeit to a lesser extent. These are community support; distance, transportation and travel time; and funding for mental health. Of note, reported barriers and facilitators often affected each area differently. For example, mental health policy and organization have made progress in post-conflict Iraq, while the governments of Yemen and Somalia barely have any control over wide swaths of territories, limiting the capability to implement policies. The evidence supporting these findings is insufficient. The findings were frequently based on unsubstantiated reports and expert opinions, while academic literature was more available in certain areas, such as Iraq. This conforms to the finding that little attention is given to mental health in the region, including in academic research.

Stigma towards mental health seems to be prevalent in all conflict-affected areas of EMR. Stigma was reported as negative perception of mental health; negative attitude and behaviour towards people with mental illness; stigma-by-association; using offensive wording; stigma from and against HCWs; and structural stigma. Other beliefs about mental health, such as supranatural explanatory models and toxic masculinity, continues to influence perceptions of mental health in the region. Contact-based stigma interventions are considered the most effective method to fight stigma. Although antistigma interventions have shown promising results in HICs, transferability of these interventions to conflict-affected areas in LMICs is limited by the paucity of evidence on effectiveness of these interventions in LMICs; lack of cultural sensitivity in implementation and measurement; and lack of interest in mental health. Still, the recommendation is to incorporate contact-based methods in existing cultural platforms that consider cultural and contextual aspects, such as cinema and TV, wherever feasible.

Training of non-specialized HCWs to deliver mental-health services in emergency settings, and integration of mental health into PHC in post-conflict settings, seem to mitigate the lack of human resources in conflict-affected areas. Most of the attempts to

integrate mental health into PHC in LMICs have shown promising results. However, training and integration are challenged by the neglect of culture and context in training guides; the fragility of healthcare system; and the absence of mental health policies. However, training curriculums can benefit from international cultural guide so as to consider local cultural and contextual variations in a case-by-case approach. Moreover, nurses can be trained to detect and treat common mental disorder instead of doctors in cases where nurses are more available.

Little was found on the influence of gender on access to mental health services. The extent to which the notion of toxic masculinity and the constraints on women's autonomy limit access to these services remains unanswered, despite its expected importance. Moreover, factors such as age, socioeconomic status and traumatic events need further exploration. More scientific research is recommended in conflict areas to address these unanswered questions. This certainly requires the political will, financial investment and academic interest in mental health to improve capacity-building in research.

Recommendations

Contextual variations between areas make the following recommendations contextrelated, and thus they should be locally adapted. The variation is especially profound between conflict settings, on the one hand, where the emergency-phase dominates, and post-conflict state, on the other, where health-system strengthening is the objective.

Humanitarian partners during conflict, and post-conflict governments are recommended to provide culturally- and contextually-adapted training for non-specialized HCWs. Training curriculum can benefit from international guidelines on adjusting clinical assessment to cultural and contextual variations. For instance, DSM-5 contains the Cultural Formulation Guide (CFI) that provides guidance on incorporating social context and cultural identity into clinical assessment (196). Then, the curriculum should identify how conflicts influence the local idioms of stress expression to further modify the rigid guidelines.

Humanitarian and governmental stakeholders should choose the target HCWs based on situational analysis of the most available human resources in conflict and post-conflict settings, whether it be physicians and/or nurses. This is underpinned by the notion that integration is fundamentally task-shifting of uncomplicated services from the less-available specialists to the more-available non-specialists as long as the latter can deliver those services. As previously mentioned, provision of mental-health services at PHC level was successfully executed by nurses in Belize and the UK (14,189).

Since stigma against mental health is rooted in the sociocultural norms, such as the use of labels and offensive words, mental-health perceptions should be addressed at an institutional, collective level that considers the local context of conflict and culture. Post-conflict government and media professionals should incorporate stigma-reduction efforts into media and culture platforms, such as cinema, documentaries and TV to induce a change in thinking patterns by reaching out to the largest-possible target population. Cinema, documentaries and TV have been witnessing an improvement in many countries across the region, as exemplified by the two Palestinian features: Omar (2015) and 5 Broken Cameras (2011), and the two Syrian documentary features: For Sama (2019) and Last Man in Aleppo (2017), all were nominated for the Academy Awards (the Oscars). Moreover, lingual and cultural similarities in the region make advocacy through cultural platforms feasible as people in Iraq, for instance, can understand and relate to Jordanian cinema. This form of video-contact anti-stigma advocacy needs collaboration between the ministries of culture, finance and health to channel funding and policies towards the end of fighting stigma, warranted by the high burden of mental disorders.

Further research based on scientific validation of data is recommended to guide policymaking in mental healthcare in conflict-affected areas of EMR, warranted by the high burden of mental disorders during and after conflicts. Researchers are recommended conduct qualitative exploratory research at national-level, whereby the general factors influencing access to mental health services are first identified in each area, while more focused research follows. Quantitative research can also measure the effect of age, location, indicators of socioeconomic status, traumatic events and extent of danger on access to care.

Meanwhile, capacity building in mental-health research should be addressed at academic, organizational and institutional levels simultaneously, and thus collaboration between multiple stakeholders (the government, international donors, NGOs and research centers) is key. Experiences in which international NGOs acted as an intermediary involving all stakeholders are proven effective and sustainable (197,198). Post-conflict governments and donors should set priorities based on the burden of diseases, and universities should embrace research culture by adopting research-favorable curriculum, offer research careers for graduates, and encouraging the establishment of research networks and associations (focused on mental health).

References

- 1. Levesque JF, Harris MF, Russell G. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. Int J Equity Health. 2013;12(1):18.
- 2. World Health Organization. Healthy life expectancy (HALE) at birth definiton [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 8]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry/imr-details/66
- 3. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Gross Domestic Product (GDP). 2009.
- 4. World Bank. Poverty headcount ratio at national poverty lines (% of population) | Data [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.NAHC?view=map&year_high_desc=true
- 5. World Health Organization. Domestic general government health expenditure (GGHE-D) as percentage of general government expenditure (GGE) (%) [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 8]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry/imr-details/4956
- 6. World Health Organization. Out-of-pocket expenditure as percentage of current health expenditure [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 8]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry/imr-details/4965
- 7. WHO. Mental disorders: Key facts. [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Feb 5]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-disorders
- 8. WHO. WHO methods and data sources for global burden of disease estimates, 2000-2011 [Internet]. 2013. Available from: https://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/GlobalDALYmethods_2000_2011.pdf?ua=1
- 9. Kale R. The Treatment Gap. Epilepsia. 2002;43(s6):31–3.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). Gender-based Violence [Internet]. UNHCR. [cited 2022 Aug 8]. Available from: https://www.unhcr.org/genderbased-violence.html
- World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, Policies EO on HS and, Thomson S, Foubister T, Mossialos E. Financing health care in the European Union: challenges and policy responses [Internet]. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe; 2009 [cited 2022 Aug 8]. xxv, 200 p. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326415
- 12. NHS Data Model and Dictionary. Psychotropic Medication [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 8]. Available from: https://www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/nhs_business_definitions/psychotropic_medication.html
- 13. Fakhoury W, Priebe S. Deinstitutionalization and reinstitutionalization: major changes in the provision of mental healthcare. Psychiatry. 2007 Aug 1;6(8):313–6.

- 14. World Health Organization & World Organization of Family Doctors. Integrating mental health into primary care : a global perspective [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2008 [cited 2022 Aug 7]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43935
- 15. WHO. mhGAP Intervention Guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings Version 2.0 [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Feb 5]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241549790
- 16. GBD 2019 Mental Disorders Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2022 Feb;9(2):137–50.
- 17. Cullen W, Gulati G, Kelly BD. Mental health in the COVID-19 pandemic. QJM. 2020 May 1;113(5):311–2.
- Clemente-Suárez VJ, Martínez-González MB, Benitez-Agudelo JC, Navarro-Jiménez E, Beltran-Velasco AI, Ruisoto P, et al. The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Mental Disorders. A Critical Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2021 Jan;18(19):10041.
- 19. Charlson F, van Ommeren M, Flaxman A, Cornett J, Whiteford H, Saxena S. New WHO prevalence estimates of mental disorders in conflict settings: a systematic review and metaanalysis. The Lancet. 2019 Jul;394(10194):240–8.
- 20. Alhasnawi S, Sadik S, Rasheed M, Baban A, Al-Alak MM, Othman AY, et al. The prevalence and correlates of DSM-IV disorders in the Iraq Mental Health Survey (IMHS). World Psychiatry. 2009 Jun;8(2):97–109.
- 21. WHO EMRO. WHO EMRO | About us [Internet]. World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. [cited 2022 Jul 17]. Available from: http://www.emro.who.int/entity/about-us/index.html
- 22. The Humanitarian Data Exchange (HDX). Pakistan: Languages Humanitarian Data Exchange [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2022 Jul 17]. Available from: https://data.humdata.org/dataset/pakistan-languages
- 23. Mirkin B. Population levels, trends and policies in the Arab region: Challenges and opportunities. UNDP: United Nations Development Programme, Regional Bureau for Arab States [Internet]. 2010; Available from: https://www.undp.org/content/dam/rbas/report/ahdr/AHDR-Population-Mirkin-Barry.pdf
- 24. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Monitoring health and health system performance in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: core indicators and indicators on the health-related Sustainable Development Goals 2020 [Internet]. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; 2021 [cited 2022 Jul 29]. 22 p. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/346297
- 25. al-Rahim AH. Arabic Literary Prose, Adab Literature, and the Formation of Islamicate Imperial Culture. In: Ganguly D, editor. The Cambridge History of World Literature [Internet]. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2021 [cited 2022 Aug 6]. p. 80–108. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/cambridge-history-of-worldliterature/arabic-literary-prose-adab-literature-and-the-formation-of-islamicate-imperialculture/CC916ECDE19E3879EC5CA4C919C8075F

- 26. Frishkopf M. Music and Media in the Arab World [Internet]. Cairo, Egypt: American University in Cairo Press; 2010 [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cairo-scholarship-online/book/15451
- 27. Freitag U. Writing Arab History: The Search for the Nation. British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies. 1994;21(1):19–37.
- 28. ASDA'A Burson-Marsteller. Whtiepaper: ASDA'A Burson-Marsteller Arab Youth Survey 2014 by Burson-Marsteller EMEA Issuu [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Jul 18]. Available from: https://issuu.com/burson-marsteller-emea/docs/ays-whitepaper-en
- 29. Freedom House, Washington DC. Women's rights in the Middle East and North Africa [Internet]. 2010. Available from: https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/270.pdf
- 30. Kian A. Gender Social Relations and the Challenge of Women's Employment. Middle East Critique. 2014 Jul 3;23(3):333–47.
- 31. Afghan Culture [Internet]. Cultural Atlas. [cited 2022 Aug 5]. Available from: http://culturalatlas.sbs.com.au/afghan-culture/afghan-culture-family
- 32. Rashad H, Osman M, Roudi-Fahimi F. Marriage In The Arab World. 2005;8.
- Schwab K, Samans R, Zahidi S, Leopold TA, Ratcheva V, Hausmann R, et al. The global gender gap report 2017 [Internet]. World Economic Forum; 2017 Nov [cited 2022 Jul 18]. Available from: https://apo.org.au/node/208501
- 34. International Labour Office (ILO) Regional Office for the Arab States and UNDP Regional Bureau for Arab States. Rethinking Economic Growth: Towards Productive and Inclusive Arab Societies [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2022 Jul 18]. Available from: http://www.ilo.org/beirut/publications/WCMS_208346/lang--en/index.htm
- 35. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Literacy Rate (15-24) years (1999-2020) [Internet]. Tableau Software. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://public.tableau.com/views/LiteracyRate15-24years_16234991502240/DT?%3A=&%3Adisplay_count=n&%3Aorigin=viz_share_link &%3AshowVizHome=no
- 36. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA). Global humanitarian overview 2020. Geneva, Switzerland: OCHA; 2020.
- World Health Organization. Life expectancy at birth (years) The GHO data repository [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/life-expectancy-atbirth-(years)
- 38. World Health Organization. Healthy life expectancy (HALE) at birth (years) The GHO data repository [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/gho-ghe-hale-healthy-life-expectancy-at-birth
- 39. World Bank. GDP per capita (current US\$) | Data [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD

- 40. World Bank. Unemployment, total (% of total labor force) (modeled ILO estimate) | Data [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL.ZS
- World Health Organization. Trends in Maternal Mortality 2000-2017. Estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division [Internet]. Geneva; 2019 Sep [cited 2022 Jul 26]. Available from: https://data.unicef.org/resources/trends-maternal-mortality-2000-2017/
- 42. OCHA. Yemen: Cholera Outbreak Now Largest and Fastest on Record, 600,000 Children Infected by Christmas - Yemen | ReliefWeb [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Jul 26]. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/yemen/yemen-cholera-outbreak-now-largest-and-fastestrecord-600000-children-infected
- 43. World Health Organization. Statement by UNICEF Executive Director, Anthony Lake, WFP Executive Director, David Beasley and WHO Director-General, Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus, following their joint visit to Yemen [Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 2022 Jul 26]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/statements/2017/joint-visit-yemen/en/
- 44. The Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Polio Cases Confirmed in the Syrian Arab Republic [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Jul 27]. Available from: https://polioeradication.org/news-post/polio-cases-confirmed-in-the-syrian-arab-republic/
- 45. The Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Polio Endemic Countries [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jul 27]. Available from: https://polioeradication.org/where-we-work/polio-endemic-countries/
- 46. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean of World Health Organiazation. Health and well-being profile of the Eastern Mediterranean Region | EMRO Regional Health Observatory [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://rho.emro.who.int/Article/health-and-well-being-profile-of-the-easternmediterranean-region
- 47. Pourmohammadi K, Shojaei P, Rahimi H, Bastani P. Evaluating the health system financing of the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR) countries using Grey Relation Analysis and Shannon Entropy. Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation. 2018 Sep 17;16.
- 48. World Health Organization. Government expenditures on mental health as a percentage of total government expenditures on health (%). The Global Health Observatory. [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/government-expenditures-on-mental-health-as-a-percentage-of-total-government-expenditures-on-health-(-)
- 49. Ismail A. World Mental Health Day 2020 A message from the WHO Country Representative, Iraq, Dr Adham Ismail [Internet]. World Health Organization - Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 2020 [cited 2022 Jul 29]. Available from: http://www.emro.who.int/iraq/news/world-mental-health-day-2020-a-message-from-thewho-country-representative-iraq-dr-adham-ismail.html
- 50. World Health Organization. Medical doctors (per 10 000 population) [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/medical-doctors-(per-10-000-population)

- 51. Mollica RF, Cardozo BL, Osofsky HJ, Raphael B, Ager A, Salama P. Mental health in complex emergencies. The Lancet. 2004 Dec 4;364(9450):2058–67.
- 52. Vigo D, Thornicroft G, Atun R. Estimating the true global burden of mental illness. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2016 Feb 1;3(2):171–8.
- 53. WHO. Mental health and development : targeting people with mental health conditions as a vulnerable group [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2022 Feb 5]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241563949
- 54. Jacob K, Sharan P, Mirza I, Garrido-Cumbrera M, Seedat S, Mari J, et al. Mental health systems in countries: where are we now? The Lancet. 2007 Sep;370(9592):1061–77.
- 55. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Implementation guide for health systems recovery in emergencies: transforming challenges into opportunities [Internet]. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; 2020 [cited 2022 Aug 7]. 40 p. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336472
- 56. Rubenstein LS. Post-conflict health reconstruction: search for a policy. Disasters. 2011;35(4):680–700.
- 57. UN Working Group on Transitions, Inter-Agency Standing Committee. The humanitariandevelopment nexus: a new way of working. New York: United Nations; 2016.
- 58. Kane JC, Ventevogel P, Spiegel P, Bass JK, van Ommeren M, Tol WA. Mental, neurological, and substance use problems among refugees in primary health care: analysis of the Health Information System in 90 refugee camps. 2014;11.
- 59. Chikovani I, Makhashvili N, Gotsadze G, Patel V, McKee M, Uchaneishvili M, et al. Health Service Utilization for Mental, Behavioural and Emotional Problems among Conflict-Affected Population in Georgia: A Cross-Sectional Study. Wallander JL, editor. PLoS ONE. 2015 Apr 8;10(4):e0122673.
- Steel Z, Chey T, Silove D, Marnane C, Bryant RA, van Ommeren M. Association of Torture and Other Potentially Traumatic Events With Mental Health Outcomes Among Populations Exposed to Mass Conflict and Displacement: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. JAMA. 2009 Aug 5;302(5):537–49.
- 61. Porter M, Haslam N. Predisplacement and Postdisplacement Factors Associated With Mental Health of Refugees and Internally Displaced PersonsA Meta-analysis. JAMA. 2005 Aug 3;294(5):602–12.
- 62. Madianos MG, Sarhan AL, Koukia E. Posttraumatic stress disorders comorbid with major depression in West Bank, Palestine: a general population cross sectional study. The European Journal of Psychiatry. 2011 Mar;25(1):19–31.
- 63. Elhabiby MM, Radwan DN, Okasha TA, El-Desouky ED. Psychiatric disorders among a sample of internally displaced persons in South Darfur. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 2015 Jun;61(4):358–62.
- 64. Madianos MG, Sarhan AL, Koukia E. Major depression across West Bank: A crosssectional general population study. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 2012 May 1;58(3):315–22.

- 65. Charlson FJ, Steel Z, Degenhardt L, Chey T, Silove D, Marnane C, et al. Predicting the Impact of the 2011 Conflict in Libya on Population Mental Health: PTSD and Depression Prevalence and Mental Health Service Requirements. PLoS One. 2012 Jul 13;7(7):e40593.
- 66. Scholte WF, Olff M, Ventevogel P, de Vries GJ, Jansveld E, Cardozo BL, et al. Mental Health Symptoms Following War and Repression in Eastern Afghanistan. JAMA. 2004 Aug 4;292(5):585–93.
- Dimitry L. A systematic review on the mental health of children and adolescents in areas of armed conflict in the Middle East. Child: Care, Health & Development. 2012 Mar;38(2):153–61.
- 68. Palestinian Ministry of Health (MoH). Palestinian Annual Health Report, 2019. [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.site.moh.ps/index/Books/BookType/2/Language/ar
- 69. Palestinian Ministry of Health (MoH). Palestinian Annual Health Report, 2013. 2013.
- 70. World Health Organization, Regional office for Europe. Incidence of mental disorders per 100 000 [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jan 28]. Available from: https://gateway.euro.who.int/en/indicators/hfa_387-2390-incidence-of-mental-disordersper-100-000/
- Devin G. Atallah. A community-based qualitative study of intergenerational resilience with Palestinian refugee families facing structural violence and historical trauma - Devin G. Atallah, 2017 [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Apr 12]. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1363461517706287
- 72. Department of Economic and Social Affairs, WHO. Goal 3 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Apr 19]. Available from: https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal3
- 73. WHO. Comprehensive Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2030 [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Apr 19]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240031029
- 74. Helzer JE, Kraemer HC, Krueger RF. The feasibility and need for dimensional psychiatric diagnoses. Psychological Medicine. 2006 Dec;36(12):1671–80.
- 75. Lobo DM, Agius M. The Mental Illness Spectrum. Psychiatria Danubina. 24:4.
- 76. Maser JD, Akiskal HS. Spectrum concepts in major mental disorders. Psychiatric Clinics of North America. 2002 Dec;25(4):xi–xiii.
- 77. Eysenck MW, Fajkowska M. Anxiety and depression: toward overlapping and distinctive features. Cognition and Emotion. 2018;32(7):1391–400.
- Giacaman R, Rabaia Y, Nguyen-Gillham V, Batniji R, Punamäki RL, Summerfield D. Mental health, social distress and political oppression: The case of the occupied Palestinian territory. Global Public Health. 2011 Jul 1;6(5):547–59.
- 79. Mataria A, Khatib R, Donaldson C, Bossert T, Hunter DJ, Alsayed F, et al. The health-care system: an assessment and reform agenda. The Lancet. 2009 Apr 4;373(9670):1207–17.

- 80. The World Bank. Classification of Fragile and Conflict-Affected Situations [Internet]. World Bank. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/fragilityconflictviolence/brief/harmonized-list-of-fragile-situations
- 81. Department of Peace and Conflict Research (Uppsala University). UCDP Uppsala Conflict Data Program [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://ucdp.uu.se/encyclopedia
- 82. UCDP Uppsala Conflict Data Program. Lebanon conflict profile [Internet]. UCDP Uppsala Conflict Data Program. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://ucdp.uu.se/conflict/426
- 83. UCDP Uppsala Conflict Data Program. Djibouti conflict profile [Internet]. UCDP Uppsala Conflict Data Program. [cited 2022 Aug 6]. Available from: https://ucdp.uu.se/country/522
- 84. Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The Concept of Access: Definition and Relationship to Consumer Satisfaction. Medical Care. 1981;19(2):127–40.
- 85. Andersen RM. Revisiting the Behavioral Model and Access to Medical Care: Does it Matter? Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 1995;36(1):1–10.
- 86. Kovess-Masfety V, Karam E, Keyes K, Sabawoon A, Sarwari BA. Access to Care for Mental Health Problems in Afghanistan: A National Challenge. International Journal of Health Policy and Management [Internet]. 2021 May 24 [cited 2022 Jun 18];0. Available from: https://www.ijhpm.com/article_4052.html
- 87. Nguyen AJ, Rykiel N, Murray L, Amin A, Haroz E, Lee C, et al. Stakeholder perspectives on integration of mental health services into primary care: a mixed methods study in Northern Iraq. International Journal of Mental Health Systems. 2019;13(75).
- 88. Joly D, Bakawan A. Women in Kurdistan-Iraq: issues, obstacles and enablers. The International Journal of Human Rights. 2016 Oct 2;20(7):956–77.
- 89. Ghuloum S. Gender differences in mental health in the Middle East. International Psychiatry. 2013 Nov;10(4):79–80.
- 90. The World Bank. Labor force participation rate, female [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.CACT.FE.ZS?locations=ZQ
- 91. Regional Consultation. Gender issues in health in the sociocultural context of the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Cairo, Egypt: WHO; 2004 p. 18. Report No.: 19–21.
- 92. Ventevogel P, van de Put W, Faiz H, van Mierlo B, Siddiqi M, Komproe IH. Improving Access to Mental Health Care and Psychosocial Support within a Fragile Context: A Case Study from Afghanistan. PLoS Med. 2012 May 29;9(5):e1001225.
- 93. Daradkeh TK, Ghubash R, Abou-Saleh MT. Al Ain community survey of psychiatric morbidity: II. Sex differences in the prevalence of depressive disorders. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2002 Nov 1;72(2):167–76.

- 94. Marie M, SaadAdeen S, Battat M. Anxiety disorders and PTSD in Palestine: a literature review. BMC Psychiatry. 2020 Oct 16;20(1):509.
- 95. Sadik S, Bradley M, Al-Hasoon S, Jenkins R. Public perception of mental health in Iraq. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2010 Oct 11;4:26.
- 96. Thornicroft G, Rose D, Kassam A, Sartorius N. Stigma: ignorance, prejudice or discrimination? The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2007 Mar;190(3):192–3.
- 97. Corrigan PW, Markowitz FE, Watson AC. Structural levels of mental illness stigma and discrimination. Schizophr Bull. 2004;30(3):481–91.
- 98. Corrigan PW, Watson AC. The paradox of self-stigma and mental illness. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice. 2002;9(1):35–53.
- HealthNet TPO. Supporting Mental Health in Afghanistan. ReliefWeb [Internet]. 2021 Oct 7 [cited 2022 Aug 9]; Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/afghanistan/supportingmental-health-afghanistan
- 100. WHO. Situation analysis of mental health in Somalia. Geneva; 2010 Oct.
- 101. Finnish Immigration Services. Mental Health Issues and Their Treatment in Iraq: Fact-Finding Mission to Baghdad in February 2019. Baghdad; 2019.
- 102. Ayazi T, Lien L, Eide A, Shadar EJS, Hauff E. Community attitudes and social distance towards the mentally ill in South Sudan: a survey from a post-conflict setting with no mental health services. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2014 May;49(5):771–80.
- 103. Sanhori Z, Eide AH, Ayazi T, Mdala I, Lien L. Change in Mental Health Stigma After a Brief Intervention Among Internally Displaced Persons in Central Sudan. Community Ment Health J. 2019 Apr;55(3):534–41.
- 104. Ali SH, Agyapong VIO. Barriers to mental health service utilisation in Sudan perspectives of carers and psychiatrists. BMC Health Serv Res. 2016 Jan 27;16:31.
- Lefley HP. Family burden and family stigma in major mental illness. Am Psychol. 1989 Mar;44(3):556–60.
- 106. de Graaf A. Integrating mental health services into primary health care in South Sudan: a case study [Internet]. South Sudan: HealthNet TPO; 2015 Dec. Available from: https://www.mhinnovation.net/sites/default/files/downloads/resource/HNTPO%20South%2 0Sudan%202015%20Integrating-mental-health-services-into%20PHC_Full%20Report.pdf
- 107. Marie M, Hannigan B, Jones A. Challenges for nurses who work in community mental health centres in the West Bank, Palestine. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2017;11:3.
- 108. Rhouma AH, Husain N, Gire N, Chaudhry IB. Mental health services in Libya. BJPsych Int. 2016 Aug 1;13(3):70–1.
- 109. Al Hariri W, Mcnally A, Knuckey S. The Right to Mental Health in Yemen: A Distressed and Ignored Foundation for Peace. Health and Human Rights. 2021;23(1):43–54.

- 110. Afana AH, Qouta S, El Sarraj E. Mental health needs in Palestine. Humanit Exch mag [Internet]. 2004 Nov 18 [cited 2022 Jun 19];(28). Available from: https://odihpn.org/publication/mental-health-needs-in-palestine/
- 111. Afana, A, Grunfeld B, El-Sarraj E. The Attitudes of Palestinian Primary Health Care Professionals in the Gaza Strip Towards Mental Illness. Egyptian Journal of Psychiatry. 2000 Jan 23;
- 112. Hedar M. Mental health during the Syrian crisis: How Syrians are dealing with the psychological effects. Int rev Red Cross. 2017 Dec;99(906):927–35.
- 113. Marie M, Hannigan B, Jones A. Mental health needs and services in the West Bank, Palestine. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2016 Dec;10(1):23.
- 114. Abdi Abdillahi F, Ismail EA, Singh SP. Mental Health in Somaliland: a critical situation. BJPsych Int. 17(1):11–4.
- 115. Hooper R. Where hyenas are used to treat mental illness. BBC News [Internet]. 2013 Oct 16 [cited 2022 Jun 19]; Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-24539989
- 116. Younis MS, Lafta RK, Dhiaa S. Faith healers are taking over the role of psychiatrists in Iraq. Qatar Medical Journal. 2020 Jan 23;2019(3):13.
- 117. Osman AHM, Bakhiet A, Elmusharaf S, Omer A, Abdelrahman A. Sudan's mental health service: challenges and future horizons. BJPsych Int. 2020 Feb;17(1):17–9.
- 118. Sharma K. Living in chains: shackling of people with psychosocial disabilities worldwide. New York, N.Y.: Human Rights Watch; 2020. 72 p.
- 119. Abuazza A. The Arab Spring movement: a catalyst for reform at the psychiatric hospital in Tripoli, Libya. International Psychiatry. 2013 Aug 1;10:56–8.
- 120. Singh AN, Singh S. Mental health services in South Sudan. The Lancet. 2014 Apr 12;383(9925):1291.
- 121. Goldsmith A, Cockcroft McKay C. Mental health in South Sudan: a case for communitybased support. Disasters. 2019 Jul 1;43:534–54.
- 122. WHO. A manual for checking Mental Health Best Practices in Somalia [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: http://www.emro.who.int/images/stories/somalia/documents/WHO_MHhandbook_LR_nov 5.pdf?ua=1
- 123. Bashir MBA, Mohamed SOA, Nkfusai CN, Bede F, Oladimeji O, Tsoka-Gwegweni JM, et al. Assessment of minor psychiatric morbidity, stressors, and barriers of seeking help among medical students at the University of Khartoum, Khartoum, Sudan. Pan Afr Med J. 2020 Mar 24;35:87.
- 124. Hamza MK, Hicks MHR. Implementation of mental health services in conflict and postconflict zones: Lessons from Syria. Avicenna J Med. 2021 Mar;11(1):8–14.
- 125. Bolton P. Mental health in Iraq: Issues and challenges. Lancet. 2013 Mar 16;381:879–81.

- 126. The Public Conference of the People (Libya). Law No. (20) of 2010 on health insurance [Internet]. The Public Conference of the People (Libya); 2010 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://security-legislation.ly/ar/law/33568
- 127. Iraqi Parliament. Law No. 22 on Health Insurance [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://moj.gov.iq/upload/pdf/4614.pdf
- 128. Taniguchi H, Rahman MM, Swe KT, Hussain A, Shibuya K, Hashizume M. Trends and projections of universal health coverage indicators in Iraq, 2000–2030: A national and subnational study. Social Science & Medicine. 2021 Feb 1;270:113630.
- 129. Garber K, Fox C, Abdalla M, Tatem A, Qirbi N, Lloyd-Braff L, et al. Estimating access to health care in Yemen, a complex humanitarian emergency setting: a descriptive applied geospatial analysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2020 Nov;8(11):e1435–43.
- 130. Jefee-Bahloul H, Duchen D, Barkil-Oteo A. Attitudes Towards Implementation of Storeand-Forward Telemental Health in Humanitarian Settings: Survey of Syrian Healthcare Providers. Telemedicine and e-Health [Internet]. 2016 Jan 13 [cited 2022 Jun 19];22(1). Available from: https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/full/10.1089/tmj.2015.0021
- 131. Jefee-Bahloul H, Moustafa MK, Shebl FM, Barkil-Oteo A. Pilot Assessment and Survey of Syrian Refugees' Psychological Stress and Openness to Referral for Telepsychiatry (PASSPORT Study). Telemedicine and e-Health. 2014 Oct;20(10):977–9.
- 132. Ben-Zeev D, Fathy C, Jonathan G, Abuharb B, Brian RM, Kesbeh L, et al. mHealth for mental health in the Middle East: Need, technology use, and readiness among Palestinians in the West Bank. Asian Journal of Psychiatry. 2017 Jun 1;27:1–4.
- 133. El Hayek SE, Nofal M, Abdelrahman D, Adra A, Harthi MA, Shamli SA, et al. Telepsychiatry in the Arab World: A Viewpoint Before and During COVID-19. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2020 Nov 19;16:2805–15.
- 134. Tiltnes ÅA. Living conditions in the Gaza Strip during and after Israel's military campaign in the winter of 2008/2009 - Evidence from interviews with 2,000 households | Åge A R I L D Tiltnes - Academia.edu [Internet]. Oslo, Norway: Fafo Institute for Applied International Studies; 2009 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://www.academia.edu/9091907/Living_conditions_in_the_Gaza_Strip_during_and_aft er_Israel_s_military_campaign_in_the_winter_of_2008_2009_Evidence_from_interviews_ with_2_000_households
- 135. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Mental health systems in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: report based on the WHO assessment instrument for mental health systems [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2022 Aug 5]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/119926
- International Medical Corps. Baseline Mental Health Situational Analysis: South Sudan. 2015 Mar p. 6.
- 137. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Mental health atlas 2017: resources for mental health in the Eastern Mediterranean Region [Internet]. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; 2019 [cited 2022 Aug 5]. 116 p. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/327491

- 138. World Bank. A Review of Health Sector Aid Financing to Somalia [Internet]. The World Bank; 2008 May [cited 2022 Jun 19] p. 32. Available from: http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/book/10.1596/978-0-8213-7517-4
- 139. Columbia Law School Human Rights Clinic and Sana'a Center for Strategic Studies. The Impact of War on Mental Health in Yemen: A Neglected Crisis [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://sanaacenter.org/files/THE_IMPACT_OF_WAR_ON_MENTAL_HEALTH_IN_YE MEN.pdf
- 140. El Tahir M. Libyan Board of Psychiatry: Training Curriculum. Libyan Medical Specialisation Board; 2013.
- 141. Medact Staff |. Mental Health Policy in Iraq since 2003 [Internet]. 2012 Dec [cited 2022 Jun 19] p. 10. Available from: https://www.medact.org/2012/resources/reports/2012-mentalhealth-policy-iraq/
- 142. Al-Uzri M, Abed R, Abbas M. Rebuilding mental health services in Iraq. Int Psychiatry. 2012 Aug 1;9(3):58–60.
- 143. Abed R, Alyassiri M, Al-Uzri M, Rizkar A. A visit to Iraqi Kurdistan (letter). International Psychiatry [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2022 Jun 19];5(3). Available from: http://basu.daneshlink.ir/Handler10.ashx?server=3&id=1572/core/services/aop-cambridge-core/content/view/A3C889A819A27411B7DBC74000489C8B/S1749367600002332a.pdf/v isit_to_iraqi_kurdistan.pdf
- 144. Familly Counseling & Development Foundtion. Interview with psychologist Balqis Al-Fadhli to (FCDF) magazine. [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: http://fcdf-ye.org/Uploads/637152793238308482.pdf
- 145. WHO. Insecurity drives health workers out of Yemen [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/insecurity-drives-health-workers-out-of-yemen
- 146. World Health Organization. WHO-AIMS: Mental Health Systems in Selected Low- and Middle-income Countries : a WHO-AIMS Cross-national Analysis. World Health Organization; 2010. 106 p.
- 147. Samele C, Frew S, Urquía N. Mental health Systems in the European Union Member States, Status of Mental Health in Populations and Benefits to be Expected from Investments into Mental Health [Internet]. Executive Agency for Health and Consumers Tender (EAHC/2010Health/04); 2013 Jul. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/health/system/files/2016-11/europopp_full_en_0.pdf
- 148. Okasha A, Karam E, Okasha T. Mental health services in the Arab world. World Psychiatry. 2012;11(1):52–4.
- 149. WHO. Global Health Observatory data repository, Human resources for Mental Health -Data by country [Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; 2016 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.MHHR?lang=en
- 150. Jabr S, Morse M, El Sarraj W, Awidi B. Mental Health in Palestine : Country Report. The Arab Journal of Psychiatry. 2013 Nov;44(873):1–6.

- 151. Marie M. Resilience of nurses who work in community mental health workplaces in West Bank- Palestine [Internet] [PhD thesis]. [Wales]: Cardiff University.; 2015. Available from: http://orca.cf.ac.uk/73210/
- 152. WHO & AIMS Sudan. WHO–AIMS Report on Mental Health System in Sudan: A Report of the Assessment of the Mental Health System in Sudan Using the World Health Organization Assessment Instrument for Mental Health Systems. WHO; 2009.
- 153. World Bank. Population, total | Data [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Aug 5]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL
- 154. Palestinian Central Bureau of Statistics (PCBS). The Palestinians at the end of 2015. [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Aug 5]. Available from: https://www.pcbs.gov.ps/post.aspx?lang=en&ItemID=1566
- 155. Physicians for human rights. Medical Professionals Killed in Syria [Internet]. PHR. 2012 [cited 2022 Aug 8]. Available from: https://phr.org/medical-professionals-killed-in-syria/
- 156. OCHA. Somalia Humanitarian Response Plan 2020 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Jun 19]. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/somalia/somalia-humanitarian-response-plan-2020-january-2020
- 157. Sadik S, Al-Jadiry AM. Mental health services in Iraq: past, present and future. Int Psychiatry. 2006 Oct 1;3(4):11–3.
- 158. Ministry of Health. Report on Mental Health (Internal Ministerial Document). 2010.
- 159. Osman AHM, Bakhiet A, Elmusharaf S, Omer A, Abdelrahman A. Scaling up mental health services in Sudan: Sudanese psychiatrists' opinions. BJPsych Int. 17(4):91–4.
- 160. Sulaberidze L, Green Hofer S, Chikovani I, Uchaneishvili M, Gotsadze G. Barriers to delivering mental health services in Georgia with an economic and financial focus: Informing policy and acting on evidence. BMC Health Services Research. 2018 Feb 13;18.
- 161. Goldsmith A, Cockcroft McKay C. Mental health in South Sudan: a case for communitybased support. Disasters. 2019 Jul 1;43:534–54.
- 162. Assalman I, Alkhalil M, Curtice M. Mental health in the Syrian Arab Republic. Int Psychiatry. 2008 Jul 1;5(3):64–6.
- 163. WHO. Mental health care in Syria: another casualty of war Syrian Arab Republic | ReliefWeb [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Jun 20]. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arab-republic/mental-health-care-syria-another-casualtywar
- 164. De Beurs D. Invited comment on The pitfalls of comparing psychiatric bed numbers across jurisdictions: lessons from Canada and Italy. The Enigma of Psychiatric Bed Numbers. 2018;14(2).
- 165. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). OECD Health Statistics, Health Care Resources [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jun 20]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/data/oecd-healthstatistics/oecd-health-data-health-care-resources_data-00541-en

- 166. World Health Organization. The Global Health Observatory [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jun 20]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho
- 167. International Medical Corps. Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Assessment. International Medical Corps; 2019 Aug p. 15.
- 168. World Health Organization. Stories of change in four countries: building capacity for integrating mental health care within health services across humanitarian settings [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 [cited 2022 Jul 26]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/349939
- 169. Shoib S, Osman Elmahi OK, Siddiqui MF, Abdalrheem Altamih RA, Swed S, Sharif Ahmed EM. Sudan's unmet mental health needs: A call for action. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2022 Jun;78:103773.
- 170. Shoib S, Gaffaz R, Mohd Saleem S, Baiou A, Chandradasa M. Libya: mental health challenges a decade after the Arab spring. Medicine, Conflict and Survival. 2022 Apr 3;38(2):93–7.
- 171. Médecins Sans Frontières (Doctors Without Borders). Healing Iraqis: The challenges of providing mental health care in Iraq [Internet]. Baghdad: Médecins Sans Frontières (Doctors Without Borders); 2013. Available from: https://www.msf.org/sites/msf.org/files/english_iraq_mental_health_final_report.pdf
- 172. Hassan G, Ventevogel P, Jefee-Bahloul H, Barkil-Oteo A, Kirmayer LJ. Mental health and psychosocial wellbeing of Syrians affected by armed conflict. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2016 Apr;25(2):129–41.
- 173. Nurse K, Wight D. Development assistance and research capacity strengthening: the commissioning of health research in East Africa. Journal of Eastern African Studies [Internet]. 2011 May 12 [cited 2022 Aug 7]; Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17531055.2011.571387
- 174. Ismail SA, McDonald A, Dubois E, Aljohani FG, Coutts AP, Majeed A, et al. Assessing the state of health research in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. J R Soc Med. 2013 Jun;106(6):224–33.
- 175. Shumba CS, Lusambili AM. Not enough traction: Barriers that aspiring researchers from low- and middle-income countries face in global health research. Journal of Global Health Economics and Policy. 2021 Jul 26;1:e2021002.
- 176. Alloh FT, Regmi P, Onche I, Teijlingen E van, Trenoweth S. Mental Health in low-and middle income countries (LMICs): Going beyond the need for funding. Health Prospect. 2018 Jun 19;17(1):12–7.
- 177. Mascayano F, Armijo JE, Yang LH. Addressing Stigma Relating to Mental Illness in Lowand Middle-Income Countries. Front Psychiatry. 2015 Mar 11;6:38.
- 178. Carter R, Jallah B. We are at the beginning of a global mental health revolution (Opinion) CNN. CNN [Internet]. 2019 May 31 [cited 2022 Aug 7]; Available from: https://edition.cnn.com/2019/05/30/opinions/global-mental-health-revolution-rosalynn-carter-jallah/index.html

- 179. Inglis M. The Mental Health Revolution [Internet]. Stormboard. 2022 [cited 2022 Aug 7]. Available from: https://stormboard.com/blog/the-mental-health-revolution
- 180. Thornicroft G, Mehta N, Clement S, Evans-Lacko S, Doherty M, Rose D, et al. Evidence for effective interventions to reduce mental-health-related stigma and discrimination. The Lancet. 2016 Mar 12;387(10023):1123–32.
- 181. Stuart H, Chen SP, Christie R, Dobson K, Kirsh B, Knaak S, et al. Opening minds in Canada: targeting change. Can J Psychiatry. 2014 Oct;59(10 Suppl 1):S13-18.
- 182. Jorm AF. Effect of Contact-Based Interventions on Stigma and Discrimination: A Critical Examination of the Evidence. Psychiatr Serv. 2020 Jul 1;71(7):735–7.
- 183. Mascayano F, Toso-Salman J, Ho YCS, Dev S, Tapia T, Thornicroft G, et al. Including culture in programs to reduce stigma toward people with mental disorders in low- and middle-income countries. Transcult Psychiatry. 2020 Feb 1;57(1):140–60.
- 184. Maulik PK, Devarapalli S, Kallakuri S, Tewari A, Chilappagari S, Koschorke M, et al. Evaluation of an anti-stigma campaign related to common mental disorders in rural India: a mixed methods approach. Psychol Med. 2017 Feb;47(3):565–75.
- 185. Farhood LF, Richa H, Massalkhi H. Group mental health interventions in civilian populations in war-conflict areas: a Lebanese pilot study. J Transcult Nurs. 2014 Apr;25(2):176–82.
- 186. Kutcher S, Gilberds H, Morgan C, Greene R, Hamwaka K, Perkins K. Improving Malawian teachers' mental health knowledge and attitudes: an integrated school mental health literacy approach. Glob Ment Health (Camb). 2015;2:e1.
- 187. Murphy A, Chikovani I, Uchaneishvili M, Makhashvili N, Roberts B. Barriers to mental health care utilization among internally displaced persons in the republic of Georgia: a rapid appraisal study. BMC Health Services Research. 2018;18(306).
- 188. WHO Special Initiative for Mental Health. Ukraine WHO Special Initiative for Mental Health [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2021 Mar [cited 2022 Aug 7]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/ukraine---who-special-initiative-for-mental-health
- 189. Mangle L, Phillips P, Pitts M, Laver-Bradbury C. Implementation of independent nurse prescribing in UK mental health settings: focus on attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders. 2014;6(4):269–79.
- 190. Cox N, Webb L. Poles apart: does the export of mental health expertise from the Global North to the Global South represent a neutral relocation of knowledge and practice? Sociol Health Illn. 2015 Jun;37(5):683–97.
- 191. Kidron CA, Kirmayer LJ. Global Mental Health and Idioms of Distress: The Paradox of Culture-Sensitive Pathologization of Distress in Cambodia. Cult Med Psychiatry. 2019 Jun;43(2):211–35.
- 192. Bracken P, Thomas P, Timimi S, Asen E, Behr G, Beuster C, et al. Psychiatry beyond the current paradigm. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2012 Dec;201(6):430–4.

- 193. Kane JC, Adaku A, Nakku J, Odokonyero R, Okello J, Musisi S, et al. Challenges for the implementation of World Health Organization guidelines for acute stress, PTSD, and bereavement: a qualitative study in Uganda. Implement Sci. 2016 Mar 15;11:36.
- 194. Kirmayer LJ. Cultural competence and evidence-based practice in mental health: epistemic communities and the politics of pluralism. Soc Sci Med. 2012 Jul;75(2):249–56.
- 195. Faregh N, Lencucha R, Ventevogel P, Worku B, Kirmayer L. Considering culture, context and community in mhGAP implementation and training: Challenges and recommendations from the field. International Journal of Mental Health Systems. 2019 Aug 24;13.
- 196. American Psychiatric Association. the Cultural Formulation Interview (CFI). In: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed) [Internet]. 2013. Available from: https://doi-org.ezproxy.frederick.edu/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- 197. InterAcademy Council the I. Enhancing the Capacity of African Science Academies. In The Final Evaluation of ASADI. InterAcademy Council; 2015 [cited 2022 Aug 7]. Available from: https://www.interacademies.org/publication/enhancing-capacity-african-science-academies
- 198. ESSENCE. Seven principles for strengthening research capacity in low- and middle-income countries: simple ideas in a complex world. ESSENCE for Health Research. 2014;